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For the love of our country and commitment to serve others



Minderoo is a proudly Australian-based organisation that brings 
a global perspective to all its endeavours. Our logo draws on 
the colours of the Australian landscape. We take our name from 
Minderoo Station, where Andrew Forrest grew up in the Pilbara 
region of Western Australia. It has been a part of the Forrest 
family for generations. Minderoo is an Aboriginal word meaning 
permanent and clean water. Our core values are:

FAMILY & SAFETY
ENTHUSIASM 
INTEGRITY  
GENERATING IDEAS 

EMPOWERMENT 
FRUGALITY  
HUMILITY   
STRETCH TARGETS
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Foreword 

For the love of our country and commitment to serve others

A sense of responsibility and service to the community 
should not be taken lightly. It is a role we should all 
carry with authenticity, commitment and a deep dose 
of reality. At Minderoo, the forefront of that reality 
is a determination to do ourselves out of business 
through the implementation of effective solutions. 
In the past 12 months we have built on our existing 
initiatives as well as develop new ones in response 
to challenges that face humanity. We are steadfast in 
our determination to generate solutions and welcome 
collaborators and partners on that journey.

Our thinking has been emergent but purposeful as 
we have strengthened the links between our various 
areas of interest to ensure we address fragilities and 
vulnerabilities along the spectrum of human life.

Along with our Walk Free Foundation, the newly 
introduced Eliminate Cancer Initiative (ECI) gives us 
a global platform to support those in need. Cancer 
is - as aptly named by cancer physician and Pulitzer 
Prizewinning author Siddhartha Mukherjee – the 
emperor of all maladies; a centuries-old riddle that is 
not going anywhere fast. The ECI aims to accelerate 
work being done on prevention and treatment of 
cancer all over the world, through the establishment 
of global collaboration frameworks and a core 
doctrine to ensure the patient is at the centre of 
every initiative.

When you consider that our work includes early 
childhood initiatives starting at conception, and 
spans education, arts and culture, health, freedom, 

communities, parity between Indigenous and non-
Indigenous Australians, and the environment, it’s fair 
to say that Minderoo touches most aspects of human 
development and the life cycle at some point.

Over the past 12 months these touch points have 
included exciting developments in the early childhood 
space through significant progress by CoLab our 
partnership with the Telethon Kids Institute. Our 
Walk Free team commemorated the introduction 
of the Global Freedom Network in Indonesia with 
its introduction at the Vice Presidential Palace in 
Jakarta and announced a joint Global Estimate of 
Modern Slavery in conjunction with the International 
Labour Organization. GenerationOne celebrated 
reaching over 6,500 sustained jobs and recorded the 
successful trial of the Cashless Debit Card. These are 
just a few of the ways we are achieving the impact 
that is described in this report. Our journey is far from 
being in its final stretch, and in fact in many ways we 
are just embarking on a whole new trek. The May 
announcement of our AU$400 million donation of 
new funding gives the Foundation the resources 
to aim higher and move faster, and reinforces its 
sustainability well into the future.

Our simple motivation is our love for the country we 
are lucky enough to call our home and a commitment 
to serve others.
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Minderoo Overview

The Minderoo Foundation was established by 
Andrew and Nicola Forrest in 2001 based on the 
mandate to give a hand up, not a hand out. The 
Foundation has supported over 250 initiatives 
across Australia and abroad including projects in 
education, research, Indigenous affairs, disaster 
response and the arts. With over AU$645 million 
invested and committed philanthropically to date, 
the focus going forward has evolved and includes 
a partnership approach as well as the design and 
direct implementation of key initiatives. These 
include: driving collaboration and change in 
global cancer research, ending modern slavery, 
creating parity for Indigenous Australians, ensuring 

all children in Australia reach their full potential, 
nurturing new talents in the arts, generating world-
changing research and innovation in Western 
Australia and innovative community development 
and environmental conservation initiatives.

Minderoo’s philanthropic endeavours are largely 
possible due to the ongoing success of Fortescue 
Metals Group, the iron ore company Andrew Forrest 
founded in 2003. Since this time, Fortescue has 
grown to become one of the world’s largest and 
lowest cost suppliers of iron ore. Fortescue and 
Minderoo’s culture reflect a shared focus on stretch 
targets and challenging the status quo when pursuing 
both commercial and philanthropic objectives.

ELIMINATE CANCER 
INITIATIVE

Making cancer non lethal 
for the next generation.  

FORREST RESEARCH 
FOUNDATION

Enable world-class research and 
innovation in Australia by 

attracting the brightest minds
 to Western Australian 

universities. 

WALK FREE FOUNDATION
End modern slavery through global 

engagement and the generation
 of robust research to inform 

the scaling of e�ective 
interventions.

THRIVE BY FIVE
Ensuring every child in Australia 

has the best chance to reach their 
potential for tomorrow. 

GENERATIONONE
To achieve parity for all Australians 
through sustainable employment 

and welfare policy reform. 

ARTS CULTURE 
COMMUNITY

Supporting the arts, enriching our 
culture and strengthening 
community organisations 

around the world. 

FOCUS AREAS

“Through effective implementation of solutions to often massive challenges to humanity,  
the Minderoo Foundation is seeking to do itself out of business.” Andrew Forrest
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OUR MODEL OF CHANGE

Our model for social change begins with developing 
better ways to solve persistent problems and once 
evidenced, ensuring these new approaches are 
embedded in mainstream policy and practice.  
Success is seeing these approaches exported  

and adopted globally. Increasingly Minderoo is using 
its influence, to complement its philanthropic giving. 
We want to prevent, not just cure the issues facing 
our world today.

THE IMPORTANCE OF COLLABORATION 

We seek collaboration to undertake our work. 
Without collaboration we believe it is difficult to 
achieve the ambitious goals we have set ourselves. 
Minderoo looks to work with organisations who 
share our values and vision and a desire to learn 
and grow together. Collaboration is an essential 

component in all of our initiatives. We use a direct 
approach to identify and understand partnership 
opportunities and undertake a rigorous due diligence 
process. Minderoo co-creates with chosen partners 
rather than providing one-off grants. 

SCAN FOR ISSUES THAT  
REQUIRE A NEW APPROACH

ENGAGE THOUGHT LEADERS  
AND GRASSROOTS SUPPORT

TEST AND REFINE APPROACH

SELECTIVELY SUPPORT  
CONTINUED IMPLEMENTATION 

IDENTIFY THE UNIQUE ROLE WE CAN 
PLAY TO ADDRESS AND DISRUPT

ADVOCATE FOR  
MAINSTREAM ADOPTION

PROVE APPROACH AT SCALE  
WITH A CLEAR EVIDENCE BASE

MONITOR, LEARN AND CELEBRATE

“Collaboration and co-creation are critical components of the Minderoo strategy.  
United we can leverage our resources to achieve far more.” Nicola Forrest
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Board Members

Andrew Forrest, AO BA 
Chairman
Industry and philanthropic leader Andrew Forrest grew up on a remote Australian 
cattle station, Minderoo, before graduating from university and building a 
career in investment banking, mining and farming. In his professional life he has 
created some of the largest raw material exporters and infrastructure companies 
in the world. Andrew is Chairman of Fortescue Metals Group and the Minderoo 
Foundation among other significant charities and companies. Some 90% of his 
time is now invested locally and internationally in ventures to protect and support 
the under privileged and communities.

Nicola Forrest, BA
Chief Executive Officer

Nicola is a member of the Prime Minister’s Community Business Partnership, 
Telethon Kids Institute CoLab Advisory Council, Valuing Children Initiative 
Advisory Board, and Governor of the Forrest Research Foundation. Nicola is 
Patron of the Kimberley Rock Art Foundation and Impact100 WA and is a Life 
Governor of Sculpture by the Sea. Nicola is also a director of the Minderoo Group 
and Chair of Harvest Road Group. She has been awarded the 2014 Celebrate 
WA Western Australian of the Year (community category) and the 2016 University 
of Canberra Award for Services to Philanthropy.

Herbert Elliott, AC MBE
Director

An Olympic gold medallist and dual Commonwealth gold medallist, Herb 
has been a Director of Minderoo Foundation, and previously the Australian 
Children’s Trust since its beginning. Herb was a non-executive director and 
Deputy-Chairman of Fortescue Metals Group until 2014 and the Inaugural 
Chairman of the National Australia Day Committee, a Commissioner 
of the Australian Broadcasting Corporation and Deputy Chairman of 
the Australian Sport Commission. Herb holds a Doctorate from the 
Queensland University of Technology.

Grace Forrest, BA
Director

Grace is an Abolitionist and Co-Founder of the Walk Free Foundation. She 
also works as a communications strategist on the Global Slavery Index, using 
on the ground photography and storytelling to create powerful media and 
social media content. Previously, she worked as a researcher at the Legatum 
Institute, specialising in modern slavery and mass movements of people. 
Grace is also a representative on the Freedom Fund counsel of advocates, 
an Ambassador for the Humanitarian Group and The Freedom Hub as well as 
a member of the advisory board of Freedom United. Grace has represented 
Walk Free Foundation around the world, including meetings with His Holiness 
at the Vatican and United Nations. 
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Tony Grist, BCOM 
Director
Tony Grist is a Principal at Albion Capital Partners, a Perth based venture 
capital investment and consultancy firm that was founded in 1990. Tony was 
cofounder and Chair of Amcom Telecommunications, which in 2015 merged with 
Vocus Telecommunications Ltd and is now a major ASX 100 telecommunications 
company. Tony is a director of the PLC Foundation and former director of iiNet. He 
has held broader directorships in Canada, the United Kingdom and Australia in the 
telecommunications, healthcare, mining and energy industries and holds degrees 
from the University of Western Australia.

The Hon Malcolm McCusker, AC CVO QC 
Director

Malcolm McCusker was Governor of Western Australia from 2011 until 2014. He 
has a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Western Australia and is a 
Queen’s Counsel. Mr McCusker is well known for his successful representation 
of wrongfully convicted persons, in a number of high profile cases. Mr McCusker 
was made an Officer of the Order of Australia in 2005, a Commander of the 
Royal Victorian Order (CVO) in 2011 and a Companion of the Order of Australia in 
2012. Mr McCusker has been Patron of more than 100 community organisations and 
is Chairman of his family foundation the McCusker Charitable Foundation.

Tonya McCusker, AM
Alternate Director

Tonya is the Administrator and a Trustee of the McCusker Charitable Foundation 
working closely with more than 100 not for profit organisations. She is also a Trustee 
for Telethon and on several boards including the Australian Ballet Foundation, 
Celebrate WA and the McCusker Centre for Citizenship. After an early career dancing 
in Monte Carlo and then with the Australian Ballet Company, she completed a 
Law degree and Postgraduate Diploma in Management. She has worked in youth 
development, with the Chamber of Commerce and is passionate about medical 
research. Tonya is married to Malcolm and has three children.

Allan Myers, AC QC
Director
Allan Myers is one of Australia’s most highly respected barristers, with broad 
practice as a barrister, arbitrator and mediator. Allan is also a highly respected 
philanthropist and has supported a range of causes. He is Chair of the Board of the 
National Gallery of Australia and of the Museum and Art Gallery of the Northern 
Territory and a Board Member of the Ian Potter Cultural Trust and the Ian Potter 
Foundation. Allan was awarded a Centenary Medal in 2003, Officer of the Order of 
Australia in 2007 and Companion of the Order of Australia in 2016 in recognition of 
his services to the community, the law, and professional learning.

Maria Myers, AC
Alternate Director
Maria Myers is Chair of the Kimberley Foundation Australia and the State Library of 
Victoria Foundation. She is Director of the State Library of Victoria, Dunkeld Pastoral 
Company, Loreto College Ballerat. Maria is a member of Council at St Mary’s College 
at the University of Melbourne and The Nature Conservancy’s Advisory Council. 
She is a strong supporter and advocate of the Burnet Institute for medical research 
and the Australian String Quartet. Maria was awarded a Companion of the Order of 
Australia for the advancement of the understanding of Indigenous rock art and her 
service to the community through philanthropic leadership.
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$400 Million Donation 

Andrew and Nicola announce Australia’s largest living donation.

After some AU$245m in cash donations and 
commitments to a range of causes and seeing 
the demonstratable benefit to those causes, the 
Minderoo Foundation’s primary sponsors decided 
to substantially enlarge and refocus the efforts of 
the Minderoo Foundation. On 22 May 2017, Andrew 
and Nicola Forrest announced one of Australia’s 
largest private philanthropic donations of AU$400 
million in a landmark event at Parliament House in 
Canberra. Unveiled by the Prime Minister, the Hon 
Malcolm Turnbull MP, the donation heralded a new 
era in private giving and unprecedented commitment 
to a suite of diverse initiatives that will strengthen 
Australian communities and support vulnerable and 
disadvantaged people in Australia and internationally.

At the announcement, which was also attended by 
the Leader of the Opposition, the Hon. Bill Shorten 
MP and leaders from the political, health, education, 
Indigenous, academic and arts sectors, the Prime 
Minister described the donation as a game-changer 
in the Australian philanthropic community. “It will 
change the lives of thousands of people here and 
around the world. All of us should seek to do as 
much as we can with what we have. So this is real 
leadership and leading by example.”

The Forrests decided to make public their decision 
as a way to encourage more Australians to give – not 
just their money, but of their time, energy and other 
resources that can make a difference in addressing 
some of society’s most complex challenges. 

“It can be easy to give with your heart, because 
there is so much need, particularly in vulnerable 
communities. The challenge is to give with your 
heart, mind and soul; to give cleverly so that 
maximum impact is achieved over the longer term, 
and to give wisely so that your own values are 
reflected,” Andrew Forrest

The Canberra event featured leading Australian 
actor Russell Crowe as the Master of Ceremonies, 
with fellow arts luminaries Jack Thompson and 
Marcia Hines also present to lend their support to 
the donation. Leaders from across the world and 
various sectors travelled to the nation’s capital to 
discuss the critical challenges being addressed 
by the Forrests and the Minderoo Foundation. In 
attendance were early childhood experts Professor 
Donna Cross and Professor Jack Shonkoff, 
Indigenous leader Ms Jacinta Price, The University 
of Western Australia Vice-Chancellor Professor 
Dawn Freshwater and cancer experts Professor 
Peter Leedman, Professor Grant McArthur and Dr 
Ron DePinho, while Forrest Research Foundation 
PhD scholars and survivors of modern slavery joined 
the event and spoke of their experiences.

That the announcement was held at Parliament House, 
and supported by both the Prime Minister and Leader 
of the Opposition, signalled the commitment of the 
public and private sectors to work together to support 
initiatives to create healthier and more educated 
citizens, boost employment and facilitate thriving, 
robust communities.

Andrew Forrest, the Hon Malcolm Turnbull MP Prime 
Minister of Australia, the Hon Bill Shorten MP Leader 
of the Opposition and Mrs Nicola Forrest
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CANCER

Working with the finest minds and institutions globally to make cancer non-lethal for the 
coming generation and eventually a disease that does not profoundly impact people’s 
lifestyles. This seed capital will initially be used to catalyse a global collaboration, 
resulting in the more efficient allocation of research and the expedition of cures.

RESEARCH 

Supporting higher education and breakthrough research through the provision  
of PhD and post-doctoral scholarships and facilities throughout Australia.

EARLY CHILDHOOD 

Ensuring every Australian child has the best possible chance to thrive. Initiatives will 
include the creation of a blueprint around the development of children in the critical 
years, from conception to five years old, that can become a global prototype.

COMMUNITIES 

Supporting arts, culture, environmental, community and small organisations  
that can make a big impact, particularly to the lives of underprivileged communities  
and individuals.

It was announced that the new funding committed  
by the Forrests would be applied across six core areas:

These areas are interlinked and span the human life 
spectrum, with opportunities for significant progress  
along every stage of the human journey.

$75m

$50m

$75m

$50m

$75m
MODERN SLAVERY 

Making Australia and the world safer by ensuring that every child and adult can expect 
and receive freedom, through the global elimination of modern slavery.

$75m

CREATING PARITY 

Encouraging education, training and employment initiatives that remove obstacles and 
end the disparity between Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians.
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1 in 6  
deaths worldwide  

from cancer 

8.8m 
lives lost last year

up to 50% 
of cancers are 
preventable
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Making cancer non-lethal for the next generation.

Cancer extracts a significant toll on humanity and is 
set to claim 100 million lives within the next 10 years. 
Due to the aging of the world’s population, cancer 
incidence is projected to rise by 70 per cent over the 
next two decades unless we wage a decisive assault 
to dethrone this emperor of maladies.

The Eliminate Cancer Initiative (ECI) is a new Minderoo 
Foundation program with the mission to make cancer 
non-lethal for the next generation.

Through global collaboration, the ECI will catalyse 
an unprecedented collective of researchers, 
oncologists, institutions, decision-makers (corporate 
and legislative), philanthropists, patients and families. 
Quintessential programs will yield population level 
impact through scalable platforms harnessing digital 
information technology, legislative policies, and mass 
public awareness and cross-sector collaborations.

Announced in May 2017, Andrew and Nicola Forrest 
directed AU$75 million as planning capital to establish 
the ECI as a convener across the global cancer 
community. The ECI will remove barriers and enable 
synergy across academia, philanthropy, private 
industry and government to accelerate progress.

The ECI will stand with patients in their cancer journey 
by focusing on health and prevention, improved 
screening, effective care and access to lifesaving clinical 
trials, particularly for the vulnerable and underserved. 

We will inspire a global movement.

The ECI is poised to make a difference at a time when 
major advances in cancer knowledge and disruptive 
technologies have positioned our generation to make 
cancer history.

The heart of the ECI is our patient-centered approach 
- to support and empower patients with knowledge, 
tools and access to quality care and the ability to 
contribute to their own health and recovery.

The ECI team of world leading doctors and scientists 
includes: Professor Ronald DePinho, immediate past 
President of the MD Anderson Cancer Centre, Dr. 
Robert Robbins, President of the University of Arizona 
in the USA, Professor Peter Leedman, Director of 
the Harry Perkins Institute of Medical Research and 
Professor Grant McArthur, Executive Director of the 
Victorian Comprehensive Cancer Centre.

PATIENT JOURNEY

Tobacco Reduction, 
Education, Vaccination

Precision cancer research 

Evidence-based 
screenings

Minimally invasive 
biomarker discovery 

& development

Evidence-based care &
Enhance knowledge 

of patients

Clinical trial access

Innovative clinical 
trial design

Monitoring

HEALTH & PREVENTION EARLY DETECTION DIAGNOSIS & TREATMENT CLINICAL TRIALS SURVIVORSHIP

ECI  INTEGRATED DATA PLATFORM
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ELIMINATE TOBACCO

1 billion 
individuals will die from 
tobacco over the next 
century

80%  
of the world’s 1.25 billion 
smokers live in low- and 
middle-income countries 
with virtually no access  
to modern cancer care 

15 countries  
use child labour  
to grow tobacco

2.1 trillion annually 
is the global cost  
of tobacco

Tobacco is the single greatest preventable cause of 
death and disease in the world. Tobacco prevention 
and cessation must be addressed. The ECI Eliminate 
Tobacco program is a global tobacco control effort 
that integrates policy, education and services to 
eliminate tobacco use for the next generation. The 
ECI collaborative will hold the tobacco industry 
accountable for the misery of tobacco on human 
life. One-third of all cancer related deaths can be 
attributed to tobacco, which each year is responsible 
for an estimated 15,000 Australian deaths and seven 
million deaths worldwide. The economic cost of 
tobacco is enormous, with increasing pressure on 
public health systems to support the repercussive 
effects of tobacco.

Tobacco control is a childcare and young adult 
issue. Ninety-five per cent of adult smokers start 
before age 21. The ECI is catalysing a call to action 
to increase the minimum age to purchase tobacco 
products to 21 across all nations of the world. 
Redoubling tobacco prevention efforts aimed at 
implementing, continuing and expanding proven 
interventions particularly among youth, is essential 
to make cancer non-lethal for the next generation. 
Restricting the purchase of tobacco for those under 
21 would curb deaths by 10% in the coming decades, 
saving hundreds of thousands of lives worldwide 
every year.

ECI PROGRAMS

The ECI will embark on three areas initially 
demonstrating global collaboration and our patient-
centered approach: 

• Eliminate Tobacco, 
• Clinical Trials, and;
• Data Platform.
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CLINICAL TRIALS

Less than 5%  
of patients eligible for a 
clinical trial are enrolled 
in a potentially lifesaving 
clinical trial

Only a fraction 
of today’s clinical 
trial participants are 
molecularly profiled 
for enlistment into 
personalised experimental 
therapy options

Data  
on clinical trials are siloed 
and not available to drive 
breakthrough insights

Drug development  
is inefficient, inaccurate 
and costly: 10+ years 
from discovery to 
approval at a cost of 
$2+ billion. Only one in 
twenty drugs entering 
clinical trials will become 
an approved therapy

High quality and data-rich clinical trials are essential 
for the development of new therapies and their 
introduction into clinical care, eventually making 
cancer non-lethal. The clinical trials business involves 
some of the largest global companies, which typically 
move slowly and are late adopters of disruptive 
technologies and new conceptual paradigms. There 
needs to be a better way to rapidly provide therapies 
to patients and remove the roadblocks that limit 
participation in trials that could change their lives. 

The ECI aims to create the world’s first fully 
connected global clinical trial network to accelerate 
the evaluation and approval of new anti-cancer 
drugs. Through an innovative and adaptive design 

strategy, coupled with a molecular profiling and a 
data interchange platform, this will translate into new 
standards of care. Our clinical trials access effort will 
establish a global recruiting database that connects 
patients in real time to every trial available in the 
network and accelerates the accrual of patients 
to innovative clinical trials. Finally, by supporting 
drug discovery efforts, the ECI will address major 
unmet needs for the underserved and also catalyse 
reductions in the cost of drugs for patients in need, 
thus reducing the financial “toxicity” to patients 
undergoing treatment.

Photo Credit Harry Perkins Institute of Medical Research 
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CLINICAL TRIALS PLATFORM 

Glioblastoma (GBM) is an aggressive brain tumor 
with few effective therapies. The understanding of 
GBM biology has increased dramatically over the 
past decade, but this understanding has led to few 
improvements in survival rates for patients with the 
disease. One of the biggest barriers to progress is 
the inefficient system for testing and developing new 
therapies and biomarkers in the clinic, a system that is 
extremely expensive and takes many years to complete. 
Even then, most therapies fail to help patients. 

The ECI aims to change this outcome by supporting 
and enhancing the first ever adaptive, multi-arm, and 
global clinical trial for GBM. The enabling platform, 
which only focuses on one of many intractable 
cancers, will enable reserarches to accrue more 
trial patients. This will help to increase survival 
rates across the trial patient population, allow 
pharmaceutical companies to share drugs, and de-
risk investment as trials will have a greater pool of 
patients to test new drugs.

SITES UNDER 
CONSIDERATION

(4)
Improve

 health outcomes 
for cancer patients

(1) 
Accelerate 

patient-centred 
screening and 
trial matching

(2) 
(3) 

Increase 
number of global 
trials run locally

Global 
Sponsors

Patient

Europe AsiaUSA

Any patient referred to the ECI network 
can be rapidly matched to any ECI trial.

And, any ECI trial can be delivered 
locally because partner sites have 

harmonised trial operations. 

Harmonise
operations 

between ECI 
sites (Australia 
then globally)

THE ECI TRIAL NETWORK

The ECI Trial Network pilot aims to discover a better, 
faster way to bring cancer therapy to patients, 
through a network of clinical trial sites that share: 
data, best practices and potential drugs to help 
patients. Currently, less than five per cent of eligible 
cancer patients participate in trials as often they are 
not available locally, knowledge of their existance 
amongst patients and oncologists is poor, and their 
selection processes are complex and time-consuming. 

The ECI Trial Network will ensure patients have 
knowledge of trials and access to personalised 
treatment and new medicines, available locally. Any 
patient referred to the ECI Trial Network will be able 
to be rapidly matched to any ECI trial, and any ECI 
trial will be able to be delivered locally, with partner 
sites having harmonised trial operations. The ECI will 
develop a network of Australian sites and prove the 
model before expanding globally. 
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DATA PLATFORM

Data silos  
are inefficient, wasteful 
and make cancer care 
less affordable for 
patients

Expertise silos  
stifles innovation, impedes 
the democratisation of 
expertise, and makes 
cancer care less 
accessible

Lack of 
transparency   
limits patients from being 
able to make informed 
choices about their 
cancer care 

Lack of 
connectivity 
prevents international 
learning and inhibits a 
patients likelihood of 
benefiting from sucess 
overseas

A global platform that shares cross-institutional and 
industry data from across the discovery, research 
and development (R&D), care and control phases 
of research i critical in making cancer non-lethal for 
the next generation.

The ECI Integrated Data Platform will establish a 
global network that engages patients, connects 
physicians and researchers, and informs policy makers 
on matters of education, prevention, early detection, 

treatment and survivorship. It will be an information 
super-highway that connects data, amplifies 
outputs, accelerates discovery and translation, and 
democratises knowledge and care. 

The platform will enable global collaboration 
through data sharing. Cross-sector cooperation and 
data integration with traditional health care services 
will improve patient-centred care in prevention, 
home monitoring and clinical trials. 

Photo Credit Harry Perkins Institute of Medical Research 
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A ship-craft master in Bangladesh. 
Labour salaries for shipping workers 

in Bangaldesh are amongst the lowest 
in the world, with poor standards for 

occupational health and labour safety. 
Conditions are rife for exploitation.

Photo Credit GMB Akash
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The Walk Free Foundation works to provide an integrated strategy  
to achieve its vision of ending modern slavery throughout the world.

Modern slavery is a complex and often hidden crime 
that crosses borders, sectors and jurisdictions. The 
Walk Free Foundation believes that a strong multi-
faceted approach is needed to end modern slavery. 
This includes building a robust knowledge base 
to inform action, driving legislative change in key 
countries and harnessing the power of businesses 
and faiths.

Through a combination of direct implementation, 
grassroots community engagement and working in 
partnership with faiths, businesses, academics, NGOs 
and governments around the world; the Walk Free 
Foundation believes we can end modern slavery.

Walk Free Foundation is working closely with the 
Australian Government on the Bali Process on 
People Smuggling, Trafficking in Persons and Related 
Transnational Crime, and will champion business 
sector engagement in this regional program. It is also 
advocating strongly for an Australian Modern Slavery 
Act as well as pursuing avenues to encourage all 
leading global economies to enact laws to ensure 
all organisations are held accountable for taking 
proactive steps to remove modern slavery from 
their supply chains.

Walk Free Foundation’s Global Slavery Index 
(GSI) has developed world leading research 
to provide measurement of the size and 
scale of modern slavery, as well as 
assess vulnerability and governmental 
responses. Together with the 
International Labour Organization, 
they developed a joint Global 
Estimate of Modern Slavery.

Alongside this, the Global Freedom Network (GFN) 
is working to catalyse world faiths in the fight against 
modern slavery. More broadly Walk Free Foundation 
works with governments and businesses around the 
world in a range of initiatives to change legislation 
and address supply chain issues.

Walk Free Foundation is also scaling effective anti-
slavery responses in partnership with the Freedom 
Fund and seed funded the global activist movement, 
Freedom United, whose community of eight million 
supporters are campaigning for change.

The Walk Free Foundation continues to work with 
faiths, governments and NGOs throughout the world 
to agitate for change and support initiatives dedicated 
to the eradication of modern slavery in all its forms.
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Through its ground-breaking research on modern slavery, including the 
flagship Global Slavery Index, Walk Free Foundation’s research provides  
the data that helps to drive and inform action on modern slavery.

The Walk Free Foundation’s research program is 
designed to answer critical questions including the 
scale of modern slavery, who it affects, where it is 
focused, and most importantly, what can be done 
about it.

The Global Slavery Index (GSI) is the only country 
by country estimate of the number of people living 
in modern slavery today. It provides a map of the 
estimated prevalence of modern slavery together 
with information about the steps each government 
has taken to respond to the issue. 

Initially launched in 2013, Walk Free has published 
three editions of the GSI. In just five years, we have 
piloted and scaled up national surveys on modern 
slavery to the point where our data now represents 
71% of the world’s population. These surveys have 
involved face to face interviews with more than 
70,000 people, across 48 countries and in more  
than 50 languages. It also provides baseline data  
on steps being taken by governments in 161 countries  
to respond to modern slavery.

The 2016 edition of the GSI was published with the 
following call to action: We call on governments 
of the top ten economies of the world to enact 
laws, at least as strong as the UK Modern Slavery 
Act 2015, with a budget and capability to ensure 
organisations are held to account for modern 
slavery in their supply chains, and to empower 
independent oversight. 

This has provided a strong central focus for advocacy 
efforts across the organisation. We have seen the 
inclusion of reference to the role of business and 
supply chains in the G20 communiques, in an inquiry 
into an Australian Modern Slavery Act, and the 
enactment of due diligence legislation in France – 
developments which all speak of the gathering pace 
of reform on this issue. 

70,000
people surveyed across 

48 countries

71%
world’s population 

represented

161 
governments presented 
with recommendations

Photo Credit GMB Akash

18 MINDEROO FOUNDATION



A YEAR OF COLLABORATION

Collaboration is central to our research strategy. We 
are proud to collaborate with organisations including 
the International Organization for Migration, United 
Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, the International 
Labour Organization, the University of Nottingham, the 
University of Western Australia and the Asia Centre at 
the University of Leiden. 

With the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, 
we are collaborating to estimate the number of 
victims of human trafficking in four countries through 
a method called ‘multiple systems estimation’. This 
technique has proven useful in highly developed 
countries such as the UK and the Netherlands, where 
surveys may not be cost-efficient or effective. 

Our partnership with the University of Nottingham 
allows us to share data and undertake joint research, 

apply for funding grants together, and for Walk Free 
Foundation researchers to work with academics from 
across the University. The University of Nottingham 
has generously funded the collection of data for the 
GSI Government Response Database. 

We also launched a new piece of ground-breaking 
global research – Global Estimates on Modern Slavery. 
This new research project, jointly developed by the 
International Labour Organization in partnership with 
the International Organization for Migration, was 
released during the United Nations General Assembly. 
It shows more than 40 million people around the world 
were victims of modern slavery at any given day in 
2016. In the last five years a further 89 million people 
experienced some form of modern slavery for periods 
of time ranging from a few days to the whole five years.

TONY’S CHOCOLONELY

We are thrilled to have entered into our very first corporate partnership 
with Dutch social enterprise and chocolate manufacturer Tony’s 
Chocolonely. This cooperation is grounded in our common vision that 
exploitation and inequality is unacceptable and that slave-free cocoa can 
be achieved only by joining forces.

Guy Ryder Director General of the International Labour Organization, Ivanka Trump Special Assistant to 
President Donald Trump and Andrew Forrest addressed the UK Prime Minister’s High level roundtable 
on Modern Slavery and the launch of A Call to Action to eradicate Forced Labour, Modern Slavery, and 
Human Trafficking
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The Bali Process Government and Business Forum aims to eradicate 
modern slavery, people smuggling, trafficking in persons and related 
transnational crimes in the Indo-Pacific region.

The Bali Process Forum aims to eradicate crimes 
against humanity including people smuggling and 
human trafficking across the Indo-Pacific region. In 
a world first, the Forum was extended to include 
the business sector and was launched in Perth in 
August 2017. It brings together public and private 
sector leaders from across 45 Indo-Pacific member 
states to examine slavery and trafficking and adopt 
an agreed set of principles to work collaboratively to 
end modern slavery. Andrew Forrest (representing 
Australia) and Eddy Sariaatmadja (representing 
Indonesia) are the business co-chairs for the Forum, 
joining the government co-chairs, the Minister for 
Foreign Affairs for Australia the Hon. Julie Bishop MP 
and Minister for Foreign Affairs for the Republic of 
Indonesia, Retno L.P. Marsudi.

The Forum is focusing on three key priorities: the 
ethical employment of migrant workers, transparency 
in global supply chains and safeguards and redress 
mechanisms. These priorities are the result of 
extensive consultation with businesses across Asia 
prior to the Forum. Key themes arising from the 
consultations include the need for greater education, 
improved regulation, incentivisation for business and 
continued innovation to address the complex crimes 
of modern slavery.

This partnership, the first of its kind in the region, 
harnesses the combined efforts of the public and 
private sector to develop innovative strategies to 
combat human trafficking, modern slavery and 
forced labour.

At the Forum, business leaders from across the Indo-
Pacific region made a commitment to support the 
implementation of strong, common and consistent 
regional laws to eradicate modern slavery from 
their supply chains and their respective countries. 
Business leaders also voiced support for mandating 
minimum standards for ethical recruitment to protect 
at-risk workers, such as stamping out the practice 
of the payment of fees by workers to recruitment 
agencies. Businesses strongly recommended that 
Bali Process member states consider the case for 
‘Indo-Pacific Modern Slavery Acts’ to drive forward 
these initiatives.

Business working groups have been convened 
to tackle the range of initiatives outlined in the 
Bali Process Work Plan and will report back to 
government at the next Bali Process Government 
and Business Forum to be convened in Bali in 
August 2018.

42
Indo-Pacific  

countries

3
United Nations 
Organisations

39
business leaders  

and their networks
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“ We call on governments of the top ten economies of the world to enact 
laws, at least as strong as the UK Modern Slavery Act 2015, with a budget 
and capability to ensure organisations are held to account for modern 
slavery in their supply chains, and to empower independent oversight.” 
2016 Global Slavery Index

The Walk Free Foundation has been working with 
NGOs, faiths groups and organisations around 
Australia to call for the Government to introduce 
new laws to tackle modern slavery. By introducing 
an Australian Modern Slavery Act, the Australian 
Government has an opportunity to show leadership 
domestically and in the region to protect the victims 
of this atrocious crime, and to eradicate modern 
slavery. Australia can lead the way in ensuring the 
reputation of its businesses matches foreign policies 
and global moral expectations. This will build on 
efforts Australia is already taking in the region to 
eradicate modern slavery.

In February 2017, the Australian Attorney General 
initiated a federal inquiry into establishing a Modern 
Slavery Act in Australia. Walk Free filed a significant 
submission to the Joint Standing Committee 
on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Inquiry, 
together with the additional submissions filed in the 
Federal Human Trafficking Inquiry and NSW Human 
Trafficking Inquiry. 

There are three essential elements that the Walk 
Free Foundation has sought to be included in the 
legislation. These include:

1. The appointment of an Anti-Slavery Commissioner 
to protect victims, improve prosecutions of 
offenders and provide oversight across a range  
of stakeholders.

2. The requirement for large organisations doing 
business in Australia to annually report in a 
‘modern slavery statement’ steps taken to 
eradicate modern slavery from within their 
organisation and supply chains.

3. The creation and maintenance of a free publicly 
accessible repository of all modern slavery 
statements filed each year.

Introducing an Australian Modern Slavery Act 
will send a powerful message to all Australians, 
organisations that do business in Australia and to our 
neighbouring regions that we will not stand by and 
ignore the millions subjected to modern slavery. 

In support of these advocacy efforts, Andrew Forrest 
and Fiona David provided compelling evidence at 
the Federal Joint Standing Committee Parliamentary 
Inquiry into the adoption of a Modern Slavery Act.

With legislation expected to be passed in 2018, the 
Walk Free Foundation will continue to work with 
the Government, businesses, civil society and other 
stakeholders to ensure that a new Australian Modern 
Slavery Act is effective. The Act must encourage best 
practice supply chain management by companies, in 
order to protect those most vulnerable.
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The Global Freedom Network is a multi-faith, anti-slavery initiative 
that operates as a coalition of faith communities committed to ending 
modern slavery. 

The Global Freedom Network is committed to the 
eradication of modern slavery through engagement 
with faith leaders around the world and works 
with them to take spiritual and practical actions. 
It empowers faith leaders to mobilise their efforts 
and work in collaboration with the private, public 
and civil sectors to fight modern slavery. The Global 
Freedom Network also works with the governments 
of leading economies to support them in enacting 
laws that encourage organisations to be responsible 
businesses, and to remove modern slavery from their 
supply chains.

The inaugural signing of the Joint Declaration of 
Religious Leaders Against Modern Slavery took 
place at Casina Pio IV, Vatican City with global 
leaders from 11 faiths. Initiated and coordinated by 
the Global Freedom Network, the event was historic 
not only for its definitive commitment to work across 

religions to eradicate modern slavery, but also 
because it was the first time that these faith leaders 
had met as a group, unified in a common cause, 
signing their names on the same document.

The Global Freedom Network is continuing to 
build on the momentum achieved through forming 
networks and signing the Joint Declaration of 
Religious Leaders Against Modern Slavery in the 
Vatican City, Delhi, Canberra and Jakarta. With events 
planned in Argentina in late 2017 and looking to the 
Middle East in 2018, the Global Freedom Network is 
expanding to bring together more religious leaders 
dedicated to ending modern slavery. 

We believe that the actions and testimony of the 
faith leaders will inspire other leaders and their 
communities around the world to also unite in this 
vision of ending modern slavery.

3
regional faith networks

45
faith leaders

20
faiths represented

Anglican
Baha’i
Baptist

Buddhist
Catholic

Christian Evangelical
Confucian

Coptic Orthodox
Eastern Orthodox

Hindu
Jain

Jewish
Lutheran

Muslim Sunni

Muslim Shia
Presbyterian

Quakers
Salvation Army

Sikh
United Church

SIGNATORY FAITHS:

22 MINDEROO FOUNDATION



INDONESIAN FREEDOM NETWORK

On Tuesday, 14 March 2017, seven faith leaders who 
represented all religions constitutionally recognised 
in Indonesia gathered and expressed their 
commitment to stand united against modern slavery 
in an event hosted by the Indonesian Vice President, 
Jusuf Kalla, at the Vice-Presidential Palace. 

In a ceremonial act, the Joint Declaration of Religious 
Leaders against Modern Slavery was signed by Muslim, 
Christian, Catholic, Hindu, Buddhist and Confucian 
leaders. Vice President Jusuf Kalla explained what this 
declaration meant for the Indonesian people and the 
importance of the Indonesian Government in leading 
the global fight against modern slavery.

“To fight against modern slavery, we need not only 
advocacy, but also real action to not fall into the 
trap of modern slavery” Indonesian Vice President 
Jusuf Kalla 

The event also saw the launch of the Global Freedom 
Network in Indonesia, with singer and youth leader 
Maudy Ayunda speaking on behalf of the young 
generation. As one of the most well-known celebrity 
figures in Indonesia, Maudy’s involvement will carry 
the message to younger generations. 

Following the launch of the Indonesian Freedom 
Network, the Global Freedom Network, in partnership 
with Paramadina University, conducted a half day 
seminar for Indonesian religious leaders. They 
developed a strategy and curriculum for a training 
program for their local religious leaders. Field training 
will be conducted in three regions identified as hot 
spots for the trafficking of local women into domestic 
servitude overseas and will be delivered later this year.

Indonesian Vice President Jusuf Kalla Indonesian singer Maudy Ayunda with Grace Forrest
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The world’s first private donor fund to bring financial resources, strategic 
focus and robust analysis to grassroots partners in the fight against  
modern slavery.

The Freedom Fund is a philanthropic initiative 
designed to bring much-needed financial resources 
and strategic focus to the fight against modern slavery. 
With an expert team and global perspective, the 
Freedom Fund aims to raise US$100 million by 2020 
for effective anti-slavery investments in the countries 
and sectors where it is most needed. The Minderoo 
Foundation is one of three founding partners making 
a US$10 million contribution to the Fund alongside 
Humanity United and the Legatum Group.

Working through 101 partners, over 13,500 people 
have been liberated from slavery and over 338,000 
lives impacted as a result of the Fund’s programs. In 
addition, 10,259 micro-enterprises have been started, 
13,815 survivors are accessing recovery services, 5,381 
survivors have graduated from vocational training 
programs and there have been 47 convictions of 
traffickers and slaveholders. 

The Freedom Fund identify and invest in the most 
effective frontline efforts to eradicate modern slavery 
in the countries and sectors where it is most prevalent. 
Working through a hotspot model, they partner with 
investors, governments, anti-slavery organisations 
and those at risk of exploitation to tackle the systems 
that allow slavery to persist and thrive. The Freedom 
Fund are currently working in northern India, south-
east Nepal, Ethiopia, central Nepal, Southern India 
and Thailand. They are continuing work to establish 
additional hotspots in Brazil and Myanmar.

“At the Freedom Fund, our focus has been on 
dismantling the local and national systems that 
enable slavery in countries with the heaviest burden 
of this crime. We do this by bringing together 
clusters of frontline organisations to fight slavery in 
their communities and advocate powerfully on the 
national and international stages.” Nick Grono, CEO, 
The Freedom Fund

Photo Credit Ginny Baumann, Freedom Fund

13,522
people liberated

34,246
at-risk children  

in school 

2,456  
legal cases  

assisted 

338,498 
lives impacted

24 MINDEROO FOUNDATION



Freedom United reduces demand for modern slavery by inspiring  
global society to become life-long abolitionists through learning  
and sharing knowledge.

Freedom United, originally known as WalkFree.org 
was launched in 2012 as a global community with a 
shared vision of a world free from modern slavery. In 
four short years, WalkFree.org grew to over 8 million 
people. After achieving its initial mission, WalkFree.org  
moved on to its next challenge and in 2016 shifted 
headquarters to join with US based Audacity Factory 
and in 2017 was rebranded as Freedom United. 

Freedom United’s mission is to inspire millions 
of people to become lifelong abolitionists, then 
mobilise them to influence governments, business 
and society to make the changes necessary to 
end modern slavery. Working with partners and 
community members, Freedom United makes an 
impact through collective action. Millions of petitions, 
emails, letters and social media messages from 
supporters around the world have helped lead to 
change in local, national and international laws and 
policies towards ending modern slavery. 

Over the last year, Freedom United has launched nine 
new campaigns that range from stopping the profits 
of slavery in Eritrea through to urging all 52 members 
of the Commonwealth to commit to ending slavery. 
A major campaign for 2017 was ‘My Story My Dignity’ 
which urged media organisations to improve the way 
that modern slavery and survivor stories are portrayed.

They have also launched Freedom University, an 
interactive platform to explore different topics related 
to modern day slavery. The platform includes articles, 
videos, lessons and quizzes on areas including human 
trafficking, forced marriage and products of slavery. 

Minderoo continues to support the work of Freedom 
United and remains actively engaged through their 
advisory board.

“Minderoo’s vision to build a global abolition 
movement is the rock solid foundation upon which 
our effort to end modern slavery is based. We are 
eternally grateful for their generosity and support 
as we continue the work they began in 2012.”  
Joe Schmidt, CEO, Freedom United

38
campaign wins

75
partners  

supported 

132
campaign 

actions launched

200+
million people 

reached

Photo Credit Grace Forrest
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Tiara Lawford works in the pearling 
industry of Broome, WA. She is 
a KGT VTEC graduate from the 

Dampier Peninsula, who secured 
a traineeship as a tour guide with 

Willie Creek Pearl Farm.
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In the early 1990s, Andrew Forrest 
envisaged an Indigenous employment 
services program where Government-
sponsored training providers were 

linked with employers. By 2008, this vision had rapidly 
expanded and the Australian Employment Covenant 
(AEC) was formed. Launched by the former Prime 
Minister, the Hon Kevin Rudd, the AEC linked 
employers, who committed ‘guaranteed’ jobs for 
Indigenous Australians, and the Australian 
Government, who committed to funding job-specific 
training. The AEC’s initial target was to secure 50,000 
jobs from employers, but the business community rose 
to the challenge, pledging over 60,000 by mid-2011. 

Alongside the AEC, GenerationOne 
was launched in 2010 as a grassroots 
movement aiming to end the disparity 
between Indigenous and non-
Indigenous Australians through real 

opportunities in education, training, mentoring and 
employment. GenerationOne also aims to break 
down stereotypes and negative opinions by 
promoting stories of success and opportunity, 
collaborating with and promoting other organisations 
that are working in the fields of education and 
employment. GenerationOne’s scope dramatically 
increased when it was merged with the AEC in 2012.

By 2012 it had become apparent that 
the existing Government training 
services were not adequately 
supporting Indigenous Australians to 
be ‘job-ready’ for long-term 

employment, and were struggling to meet the 
unprecedented level of demand demonstrated by 
employers. GenerationOne convinced the Government 
to implement VTECs based on a demand led training 
model. VTECs are specialised training providers that 
connect Indigenous job seekers with guaranteed jobs. 
This model brings together the support services 
necessary to prepare job seekers for work and builds 
the cultural awareness capacity of employers.

In 2013, the Australian Government 
commissioned Andrew Forrest to review 
Indigenous training and employment 
programs, and to ensure services are 
properly targeted and administered to 

connect unemployed Indigenous people with real and 
sustainable jobs. Following engagement with the 
community, the scope of the Review was broadened to 
include welfare, school attendance and early childhood 
education. The Review was published in 2014 and 
contains 27 recommendations that represent an 
interdependent and comprehensive package of 
measures to address the many and varied barriers to 
achieving parity.

To achieve parity for all Australians through sustainable employment  
and welfare policy reform.

GenerationOne is a national movement to end the 
disparity between Indigenous and non-Indigenous 
Australians through training and sustainable 
employment. We believe the best way to achieve this 
is through real opportunities in education, training, 
mentoring and employment.

The focus of GenerationOne is now primarily aligned 
with providing high-level support for the Vocational 
Training and Employment Centre (VTEC) network 
across Australia, and exploring the expansion of 

the ‘demand-led’ training model into prisons and 
school based services. It continues to advocate 
for the adoption of the Creating Parity Review 
recommendations, including addressing some of 
the technological limitations of the Cashless Debit 
Card and investigating ways to link the Family Tax 
Benefit with school attendance. GenerationOne is also 
providing ongoing support to Indigenous community 
leaders, sharing personal success stories and building 
the aspirations of Indigenous Australians.
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Vocational Training and Employment Centres (VTECs) are specialised 
training providers that work in partnership with businesses and other training 
organisations to help place Indigenous Australians into long-term employment.

VTECs connect Indigenous job seekers with 
guaranteed jobs and bring together the support 
services necessary to prepare job seekers for 
long-term employment. In addition, post placement 
support is provided including employee mentoring 
and cultural awareness for employers.

The VTEC model was designed to directly address 
the Indigenous employment gap and is funded 
by the Australian Government. The key feature of 
VTECs is the guarantee of a job before job-specific 
training starts. Payments exclusively reward VTEC 

operators on achieving 26-week outcomes. Service 
providers bring together a comprehensive range of 
support for job seekers to build vocational and non-
vocational capabilities. 

More than 6,500 long-term unemployed Indigenous 
Australians have now been placed into employment 
at retention rates of more than 70 per cent over 26 
weeks, vastly above industry standards. These results 
showcase the transformative power of guaranteeing 
employment before the commencement of skills-based 
education and training for Indigenous job-seekers.

au$45m
funded

6,500+
jobs filled

24
centres across 

Australia 

70%+
retention rate  
over 26 weeks
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REAL FUTURES VTEC

Real Futures is a successful Aboriginal company that 
delivers VTEC programs for Aboriginal communities 
and employers from Hunter NSW through to 
Geraldton WA. They provide a customised, client 
centric service that bends and moves outside the 
norm to offer life changing opportunities.

Their focus is to enable a smooth, uninterrupted 
progression into work for Aboriginal people to entry 
level traineeships and direct work placements. Their 
relationship with communities and employers are 
strong and proven. 

“The Real Futures team are proud Aboriginal people 
who are completely dedicated to helping end the 
pressures that a failing economic system puts onto 
minority groups like our mob. We are enabling the 
best possible practices that will engage everyone 
responsible for this change in each of our aspirants.”

RAYMOND’S STORY

Raymond is a Bundjulung/Githabul man who grew up 
in Redfern, Sydney. As a teenager he fell into a lifestyle 
of drug and alcohol abuse which led to time in a 
correctional centre. On his release he enrolled in a drug 
rehabilitation program to get his life back on track. 

Raymond contacted Real Futures VTEC who met with 
him and started to source employment opportunities. 
They were open about Raymond’s background 
and negotiated with employers to secure a chance 
for him to prove himself. He is now a dedicated 
employee and is working up to 40 hours a week. 

“Absolutely everything has changed. Work has not 
only changed my life but my kid’s life too. I have a 
great relationship and family life now. I feel like a 
great Dad and a positive role model”.

PROGRAMMED COMMITS 5,000 JOBS TO INDIGENOUS AUSTRALIANS

In March 2017, leading service provider Programmed 
signed the largest ever contract by one company 
for Indigenous employment opportunities. Prime 
Minister Malcolm Turnbull joined GenerationOne 
founder, Andrew Forrest and the Managing Director 
of Programmed, Chris Sutherland, to announce 
Programmed’s pledge to provide 5,000 employment 
opportunities to Indigenous Australians through 
the Australian Employment Covenant initiative. 
The agreement between Programmed and 

GenerationOne will be supported by organisations 
such as VTEC, the Employment Parity Initiative, 
jobactive and other Government initiatives. 

“We are delighted that both the Prime Minister 
and Andrew Forrest totally support our new 
First Australians employment commitment. 
It is important that our workforce reflects the 
communities we operate in.” Chris Sutherland, 
Managing Director, Programmed

2017 ANNUAL REPORT 29



Creating Parity – The Forrest Review provides a holistic and solutions-
based approach to ending the disparity between Indigenous and non-
Indigenous Australians.

The Creating Parity Review proposes major reforms 
within prenatal and early childhood care, education, 
welfare, training and employment, housing, 
and service delivery for remote communities. 
Commissioned by the Prime Minister in 2013, the 
Review contains 27 recommendations designed to 
create equality of outcomes between Indigenous and 
non-Indigenous Australians and to break down the 
barriers to ending disparity.

The purpose of the review was to provide advice 
to the Government on how to improve employment 
services for Indigenous Australians. Specifically, 
the review was established to investigate the most 
effective way at helping Indigenous Australians 
secure long-term and sustainable employment.

Following an extensive consultation process with the 
community, the scope of the review was expanded 

to address the multitude of factors outside of 
employment that contribute to disadvantage. Many of 
the recommendations also have a national application 
and were designed to support all people experiencing 
disadvantage, not just Indigenous Australians.

GenerationOne has been consulting with 
communities, health services, schools, councils and 
local businesses around Australia to both present the 
recommendations in the Creating Parity Review and 
talk more specifically about the Cashless Debit Card. 

“...it is clear that while there are historical and 
socioeconomic factors involved in the low life 
expectancy for Aboriginal people, the worsening rates 
of alcohol and illicit drug use are driving much of the 
illness and life-threatening behaviour – not just in 
remote communities, but across Australia.” Professor 
Marcia Langton

27
recommendations  

made

26
either implemented 

or explored by 
Government 

5
recommendations  

fully adopted
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RECOMMENDATION 1

EARLY CHILDHOOD

That all governments prioritise investment in early 
childhood, from conception to three years of age.

The Government has committed AU$20m to fund 
the Connected Beginnings program as part of the 
Child Care Safety Net. This is expected to strengthen 
the integration of child care services with maternal, 
child health and family support programs across key 
Indigenous communities.

RECOMMENDATION 18 

GOVERNMENT PROCUREMENT

That the Commonwealth Government purchase at 
least 4% of its goods and services within four years 
(either directly or through subcontractors) from 
first Australian businesses (with a minimum of 25% 
Indigenous ownership) and in particular from the 
new first Australian commercial enterprises once 
they are established.

The Commonwealth Government continues to 
leverage its AU$50b dollar procurement budget to 
benefit Indigenous businesses and boost Indigenous 
employment. To date there has been over AU$275m 
increase in contract value with over 1,500 contracts 
awarded to Indigenous businesses.

RECOMMENDATION 21 

PUBLIC SECTOR EMPLOYMENT

That the Commonwealth, State and Territory 
Governments each set and enforce public sector 
first Australian employment targets of 4% within four 
years for each portfolio with a minimum of 4% within 
five years, but with no individual portfolio with less 
than 3%.

The Commonwealth Government has been 
increasing the level of Indigenous representation 
across the public service, raising the total from 2.2% 
in 2015 to 2.4% to date.

RECOMMENDATION 5

HEALTHY WELFARE CARD (CASHLESS 
DEBIT CARD)

That the Commonwealth Government implement 
immediately a Healthy Welfare Card scheme in 
conjunction with major financial institutions and 
retailers to support welfare recipients manage their 
income and expenses.

The Cashless Debit Card is continuing to be trialled in 
Ceduna SA and the East Kimberley WA, with two new 
locations rolling out in 2018. Results show that the Card 
works as an effective tool in helping to minimise the 
social harm caused by excessive alcohol consumption, 
illegal drug use and gambling.

RECOMMENDATION 19

TOP 200 EMPLOYERS (EMPLOYMENT 
PARITY INITIATIVE)

That the Commonwealth Government provide the 
top 200 companies in Australia and those with a 
strong track record of first Australian employment, 
with tailored contracts to increase the proportion of 
first Australians among their employees.

The Employment Parity Initiative (EPI) sees some 
of Australia’s largest employers partnering with the 
Government to secure an additional 20,000 jobs 
for Indigenous Australians by 2020. Eleven big 
businesses, known as EPI employers, have signed up 
to the Initiative.

RECOMMENDATION 22

REMOTE JOB CENTRES

That the Commonwealth Government replace and 
consolidate current Remote Jobs and Communities 
Programme services and other work preparation and 
literacy and numeracy programmes with demand-
driven Job Centres, drawing on the Vocational 
Training and Employment Centre model, where 
training and support are provided to get people into 
guaranteed jobs.

The Government’s Community Development 
Programme commenced on 1 July 2015 and has to 
date seen over 60 service providers rolled out across 
the country. These service providers help Indigenous 
Australians engage in meaningful activities on their 
pathway into long-term work.

RECOMMENDATION SNAPSHOT
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The Impact of the Cashless Debit Card

The Cashless Debit Card is a key recommendation 
from the Creating Parity Review that has been trialled 
by the Australian Government in Ceduna, SA and 
the East Kimberley, WA. It aims to give people the 
capacity to stabilise their financial arrangements to 
ensure secure housing, payment of regular bills and 
that they have food on the table.

The card sees 80% of a welfare benefit placed 
onto a bank card that cannot be used to purchase 
alcohol or gambling products. The remaining 20% is 
deposited into a standard bank account that can be 
withdrawn as cash. The Card works as a powerful 
tool to empower those on welfare to make better 
food, education and lifestyle choices while minimising 
the harm caused by excessive alcohol consumption, 

illegal drug use and gambling. Following extensive 
community consultation, the Cashless Debit Card is 
being rolled out in a further two communities in 2018.

EVALUATION RESULTS

An independent evaluation of the trial showed 
an outstanding improvement across many 
areas including a significant reduction in alcohol 
consumption, illegal drug use and gambling, whilst 
improving the ability to save money. As recently 
highlighted in the final evaluation and in the 
graphs below, these findings were confirmed and 
strengthened over 12 months across both the East 
Kimberley and Ceduna.
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REPORTED VIOLENCE DOWN & COMMUNITY PRIDE UP

The Cashless Debit Card protects vulnerable 
communities from the impacts of cash welfare. 
Significantly fewer women and children are reporting 

being victims of assault and an overwhelming 
number of people are saying they feel more pride  
in their community.

MIXED RESULTS

The Cashless Debit Card is working and it’s 
transforming lives but the evaluation shows that it is no 
silver bullet. Some people have reported that the card 
is not helping them and that they experience stigma. 

The good news is that these results are improving 
over time. The card technology is getting better and 
as it develops, the stigma and resentment issues will 
continue to diminish.
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“Thrive by Five represents Minderoo’s efforts  
to encourage a long-term and evidence-based  

approach to the way Australia prioritises the  
wellbeing and future of children.” Nicola Forrest 

Photo Credit Telethon Kids Institute
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Ensuring every child in Australia has the best chance to reach their  
potential for tomorrow.

Thrive by Five represents Minderoo’s belief 
that every child should have the opportunity to 
reach their full potential. To achieve this a child’s 
development should be prioritised from conception 
to the first day of school. We believe a multi-faceted 
approach is needed to create an Australia that 
enables healthy, happy and thriving children. 

In the past 12 months, Minderoo has continued to 
use its resources – including advocacy, funding, 

relationships and strategic partnerships – to raise 
awareness and build the case for a greater focus  
on our most vulnerable children and families.

In May 2017, Andrew and Nicola Forrest announced 
a AU$400m donation which included AU$75m to 
expand Minderoo’s early childhood development 
efforts. These funds will be disbursed to collaborative 
initiatives that contribute to long-term policy and 
practice change, in Australia and abroad.

THE KNOWLEDGE THAT UNDERPINS  
OUR APPROACH

•  The early years matter because in the first few years 
of life more than 1 million new neural connections 
are formed every second. (Harvard Center on the 
Developing Child, 2017)

•  Child development is multi-faceted and requires  
a collaborative approach across stakeholders  
and sectors. 

•  Family circumstances have a significant influence 
on a child’s development and effective policy and 
practice must reflect this. 

•  22% of children in Australia are considered 
developmentally vulnerable when they start school. 
This increases to 42% for Indigenous children. 
(Australian Early Development  
Census, 2015)

THE BELIEFS THAT DRIVE  
OUR APPROACH

•  Early childhood offers the best chance to 
intervene and make changes to help stop the 
cycle of poverty and disadvantage in families and 
create a fairer society.

•  Early childhood and family services are complex 
and overlapping across the Commonwealth, 
state, territory and local governments and non-
government organisations. 

•  Children must be valued and their voice 
represented to ensure the wellbeing of future 
generations and prosperity of Australia.

•  Collaboration is critical to help answer the ‘how’ 
not just the ‘what’ of effective and scalable early 
childhood practice and policy.

4
flagship initiatives 

underway

8
Connected Beginnings 

community partnerships

 10 
research collaborations  

underway
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ADVOCACY

As an independent organisation, Minderoo recognises 
its unique ability to provide a voice for those who 
are experiencing disadvantage, including vulnerable 
children and families. Minderoo’s CEO Nicola Forrest 

is a passionate advocate for the wellbeing of children. 
This advocacy is focused on the need to take a 
preventative approach with collaboration across non-
traditional stakeholders.

PRE-ELECTION SUBMISSION

In December 2016, Minderoo 
called on all parties contesting 
the Western Australian State 
Election to show unprecedented 
leadership on the issue of 
early childhood development. 
Minderoo’s Pre-Election 
Submission included a call 
for a long-term strategy and 
commitment to whole-of-
government targets to reduce 
childhood vulnerability. 

WHAT CAN AN INCOMING STATE GOVERNMENT  
DO FOR VULNERABLE WESTERN AUSTRALIANS?

Minderoo calls on all major political parties contesting the 2017 State Election to 
respond to recommendations that the new State Government should:

PROVIDE 
UNPRECEDENTED 
LEADERSHIP AND 

FOCUS ON REDUCING 
CHILDHOOD 

VULNERABILITY.

• Establish a Ministerial position responsible for children’s well-
being from pregnancy to age five with authority to review, 
direct and coordinate the related early childhood services of 
health, education, and childcare and child focused community 
development;1 

• Review existing services and infrastructure to identify the 

• Develop a non-partisan 10-year multi-sector strategy to improve 
the well-being of Western Australia’s children that better 
coordinates early childhood health, education  
and childcare and community services;

• Review existing evidence for the best ways to support families 
with children experiencing vulnerabilities and make this available 
to service providers; and

• Commit to a target, with annual reporting for the reduction  
of childhood vulnerability across Western Australia.

STOP CHILDREN AND 
FAMILIES FROM FALLING 
THROUGH THE CRACKS 

WHILE BUILDING ON 
EXISTING MOMENTUM.

• Audit all relevant policy areas to identify overlaps, gaps  
and direct new policy decisions;

• Undertake an evaluation of the current Child and Parent Centre 
model to identify opportunities to strengthen and expand it;2 

• Investigate the opportunities of building childcare centres at 
primary school sites in low socio-economic communities; and

• Support the implementation of the Commonwealth Government’s 
Connected Beginnings initiative across Western Australia.3

HALT THE WIDENING 
GAP BETWEEN 

VULNERABLE AND 
ALL OTHER WESTERN 

AUSTRALIANS.

• Fully support a national roll out of the Commonwealth 
Government’s Healthy Welfare Card to replicate the positive 
results seen in the East Kimberley and Ceduna;4

• Identify appropriate regions/sites that the Commonwealth 
Government can use to trial the ‘No School, No Pay’ (payment 
of Family Tax Benefit linked to school attendance) concept and 
commit to sharing relevant school attendance data;

• Assist in establishing a Vocational, Training and Employment 
Centre (VTEC) for youth in incarceration at Banksia Hill Juvenile 
Corrections Centre;5 and

• Adopt an Aboriginal Procurement Policy that guarantees at least 
four per cent of all State Government contracts (either directly, 
or through subcontractors) are awarded to Aboriginal-owned 
businesses (with a minimum of 25 per cent Aboriginal ownership).6 

“

”

2017 EARLY CHILDHOOD LEARNING  
AND DEVELOPMENT CONFERENCE 

In April 2017, Nicola Forrest co-hosted Dr Jack 
Shonkoff of the Harvard University Center on the 
Developing Child alongside Goodstart Early Learning 
and Child Australia. While in Western Australia, 
Dr Shonkoff presented to more than 800 early 
childhood policy makers and practitioners, and met 
with state government ministers, shadow ministers 
and heads of government agencies who work with 
families. Dr Shonkoff’s work has demonstrated 
the impact of toxic stress on children, including an 
increased risk of developing adult health problems 
such as diabetes and heart disease later in life. Dr 
Shonkoff’s work is continuing to inform Minderoo 
and CoLab’s initiatives in Australia.

“I know that all of you here today share my frustration 
at the conundrum that exists in our society: no-one 
disputes that children are our most precious asset, 
yet we are geared to approach child development 
as an afterthought, attempting to remediate the 
consequences later in life, when it is more costly, 
more difficult and to put it bluntly – too late. We 
echo the calls of Dr Shonkoff - for a new, more 
effective era in early childhood intervention.” Nicola 
Forrest addressing the Early Childhood Learning and 
Development Conference
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COLLABORATION

Collaboration is a cornerstone feature of effective 
community initiatives. This is especially true for early 
childhood development, where the multi-faceted 

nature of brain growth requires a unified response 
across stakeholders. Effective approaches must be 
driven by collaboration at the policy and practice level.

CHALLIS PARENTING  
AND EARLY LEARNING CENTRE 

Minderoo has supported the Challis Community 
Primary School in delivering its integrated early 
childhood and family service delivery initiative since 
2012. By assembling a suite of multi-disciplinary 
services on the school site, the initiative has achieved 
remarkable results. Overall, children who are involved 
in the program start school ahead of their peers in 
terms of social and emotional development, literacy 
and numeracy. The model has also informed State 
and Commonwealth Government policy initiatives 
including the Western Australian Government’s 
Child and Parent Centres and the Commonwealth 
Government’s Connected Beginnings initiatives. 
Other highlights in the past 12 months have included 
the development of an evidence informed three-year-
old curriculum and a parent engagement strategy 
that was presented at the Early Childhood Learning 
and Development conference in March 2017. The 
curriculum addresses the compendium of skills and 
attributes necessary for optimal ‘school readiness’ 
and connects a range of evidence-based parameters 
to create a holistic and rigorous syllabus. 

The curriculum also offers parents at-home 
suggestions to support their child’s development, 
thus facilitating parents to gain knowledge, build 
confidence and increase competence in providing 
their child with quality early learning opportunities. 

Key outcomes and data in the past 12 months include: 

•  Implementing the three-year-old program at Challis 
reduced the percentage of children at risk of 
developmental and academic delay from 42% to 13%.

•  Students who attended the three-year-old program 
have consistently outperformed students who did 
not attend on the Performance Indicators in Primary 
Schools (PIPS) reading measure.

•  Grade Three students who completed the three 
year old program outperformed students who did 
not complete the program in reading, writing and 
numeracy on the National Assessment Program – 
Literacy and Numeracy (NAPLAN).

In April 2017, Minderoo 
representatives Matthew 
O’Sullivan and Hayley Panetta 
hosted the Minister for Aged 
Care and Indigenous Health, 
the Hon Ken Wyatt MP at the 
Challis Parenting and Early 
Learning Centre. Learnings 
were shared from the model for 
other Commonwealth initiatives. 
Matthew and Hayley were joined 
by Challis Principal Lee Musumeci 
and Early Years Program 
Coordinator Kristy Tomlinson.
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PRIME MINISTER’S COMMUNITY  
BUSINESS PARTNERSHIP 

Chaired by Prime Minister the Hon Malcolm Turnbull, 
the Community Business Partnership includes members 
from across the business, community and philanthropic 
sectors. Its mission is to grow philanthropic giving, 
volunteering and social impact investment and provide 
advice on emerging issues. Nicola Forrest chairs a 
Partnership Working Group convened by the Prime 
Minister to focus specifically on the first thousand 
days of a child’s life. The Working Group is focused on 
encouraging a greater focus by governments, business, 
philanthropy and the community sector in strategies 
that focus on parent capacity. The Working Group is 
also investigating structural issues that may limit the 
scaling of effective initiatives.

CONNECTED BEGINNINGS 

The Creating Parity Review, recommended that all 
levels of Australian government prioritise investment 
in early childhood, including through progressive 
investment in integrated early childhood services. 
Connected Beginnings was developed in response 
to the recommendation and includes a AU$20m 
commitment from the Department of Education 
and Training and AU$12m commitment from the 
Department of Health. The Connected Beginnings 
program aims to support efforts that increase access 
to early childhood services, bring services together 
and improve sharing of information so families have a 
more streamlined experience. 

The implementation is informed by an advisory 
group that includes: the Minderoo Foundation, 
SNAICC National Voice for our Children, the Prime 
Minister’s Indigenous Advisory Council, Philanthropy 
Australia, the Australian Institute of Family Studies 
and Murdoch Children’s Research Institute. In the 
first 12 months, agreements have been executed 
with lead partners and Aboriginal Controlled Health 
Services in eight sites. Philanthropy Australia is 
supporting Connected Beginnings communities with 
a capacity building package and advice to engage 
with the philanthropy sector to leverage resources 
for greater impact. 

Community Business Partnership members Nicola 
Forrest and Peter Treseder, visited the Logan 
Together collective impact initiative in Queensland 
to learn more about the barriers to effective service 
delivery for children and families.

Partnership 
agreements have 
been confirmed with 
eight communities 
around Australia.

Northern Territory
Alice Springs
Tennant Creek
Galiwinku

Queensland
Doomadgee

New South Wales
Doonside

Victoria
Mildura

South Australia
Ceduna
Port Augusta
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A NEW APPROACH - ACTION ZONES

Action Zones are geographically located 
communities where government, local 

services and the community work together to 
co-produce and deliver services that are holistic, 
outcomes focussed and tailored to the needs of the 
community. Action Zones are created by authorising 
local governance, waiving (selected) legislation and 
regulation, reshaping service delivery, and facilitating 
public and private sector partnerships. Action Zones 
are supported by all levels of government to enable 
things to be done different and will generally involve 

partnerships with non-traditional stakeholders such 
as business and philanthropy. In recognition of the 
complex and multi-faceted nature of the issues and 
the learnings from other place-based approaches, 
Action Zones provide an opportunity for stakeholders 
to work collectively in a co-design process. Minderoo 
and the Telethon Kids Institute, through CoLab, are 
pursuing the concept as a flagship initiative to test 
and scale effective and innovative approaches to 
improving the development and learning of children 
in vulnerable communities.

CO-CREATING MORE EFFECTIVE SUPPORT FOR CHILDREN AND FAMILIES IN WESTERN AUSTRALIA

Nicola Forrest and the Premier the Hon Mark 
McGowan MLA have agreed that a new approach 
is needed to respond to disadvantage and 
vulnerability in Western Australia. Using the Action 
Zone concept as a platform, Minderoo and the 
Telethon Kids Institute are working with the Western 
Australian Government to develop a proposal for 
an early years initiative. Through a collaboration 
of government, researchers, businesses and 

philanthropic organisations supporting a community 
decision-making group, the focus of the strategy is 
on implementing evidence informed approaches, 
innovation, service re-design and empowering 
communities. The goal is to launch an initiative in up 
to four communities in 2018 with a multi-year funding 
commitment, robust evaluation and commitment from 
all parties to scale the findings through long-term 
policy commitments.

“We need to stop what can be a meteorite shower of expenditure and uncoordinated 
service delivery into vulnerable communities. There must be better collaboration 

between government, community, research and philanthropy to re-design our service 
systems so that they better meet the needs of children in our most disadvantaged 
communities. It is opportunities like Action Zones that Minderoo will pursue with its 

AU$75 million commitment to early childhood.” Nicola Forrest
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RESEARCH TRANSLATION 

Minderoo’s lead partnership is with the Telethon Kids 
Institute to form CoLab (Collaborate for Kids). With 
a strategic framework detailing three priority areas 
launched in early 2017, CoLab represents a collaborative 
platform, backed by science that bring together the 
community, families, clinicians, educators, government 
and researchers. CoLab is led by an Advisory Council 

chaired by Professor Bill Louden. CoLab will improve 
service delivery, strengthen community capacity and 
enhance our understanding of how best to nurture 
future generations. This year, CoLab has developed four 
flagship initiatives and formed 10 unique partnerships 
to help determine what effective early childhood 
approaches work at a national scale.

THE CHILD DEVELOPMENT ATLAS

CoLab, in partnership with The Ian Potter 
Foundation, has commenced development 

of the Child Development Atlas (CDA), an interactive 
tool that plans to link data from multiple government 
agencies to build comprehensive child development, 
health and social profiles of Western Australian 
communities. These neighbourhood social profiles 
will be overlayed with service delivery profiles 
to support policy makers, service providers and 
communities in meeting critical needs. The project 
team will work with government agencies to build 
a central platform for currently siloed data. CoLab 
is further supporting this initiative by facilitating 
partnerships with service providers and communities 
to inform service delivery for children and families. 
The CDA pilot will commence in April 2018.

EARLY YEARS ECONOMIC SUMMIT

One of CoLab’s priority areas is improving 
the economic understanding of early 

childhood service delivery. CoLab identified the 
need to integrate the way the benefits of investing 
in early childhood are calculated, given the siloed 
approach taken by economic experts across the 
health, education, labour and welfare sectors. To 
address this, CoLab is bringing together economic 
experts across these sectors to take a ‘whole of 
life’ approach to describe the lifetime benefits of 
optimal early childhood development. Our Early 

Years Economic Summit and Think Tank, to be held 
in late 2017, will establish a holistic approach to 
calculating the benefits and costs of investing in 
early years. It will also commence the development 
of a long-term plan to determine how we can work 
to bring economists together to achieve a more 
comprehensive understanding of the benefits of 
investing in early childhood services and activities. 
The Summit will include renowned economist 
Professor David Bloom from Harvard University as 
guest speaker.
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PARTNERSHIPS

One of the underpinning drivers of the CoLab 
partnership is to ensure that quality research is 
accessible and understandable for policymakers, 
practitioners and parents. In addition to its larger 
scale projects, CoLab has established 10 unique 
collaborations with partners around Australia to 
inform and support the work of others. In the past 
12 months, these collaborations have included 
partnerships with: 

•  We the People, East Metropolitan Health Service and 
Edith Cowan University to develop a demonstration 
project in Midland, Western Australia.

•  The Commissioner for Children and Young People 
WA, the Centre for Parenting Excellence, and 
Anglicare WA to develop wellbeing measures and 
a shared early years vision across the government 
and community sectors.

•  The Department of Education to support the 
Kimberley Schools Project in Western Australia.

•  Murdoch Children’s Research Institute and 
Goodstart Early Learning to evaluate the Enhancing 
Children’s Outcomes (EChO) initiative.

THE AUSTRALIAN DECLARATION FOR YOUNG CHILDREN

Much research has been completed to 
describe the actions that need to be taken 

to optimise the development and learning of children 
from birth. This research is sometimes misquoted or 
misused, making it difficult to recommend clear policies 
for improvement, with policymakers getting conflicting 
advice about what actions should be taken. 

A specialised technique called the Delphi Process 
was used by CoLab to engage leading Australian 
early childhood researchers in a consensus process 
to collate and consolidate key research findings and 
recommended actions. The outcome of this process 
was the development of the Australian Declaration 
for Young Children. The Declaration outlines the 
foundations of what we know about early childhood 

and the actions that are needed to improve children’s 
outcomes in the early years. The Declaration formalises 
a collective long-term commitment to improving 
children’s outcomes in the early years (conception 
to age 8), particularly for those children and families 
experiencing adversity. 

More than 100 stakeholders with recognised expertise 
in early childhood research were invited to participate 
in the development of the Declaration. CoLab was 
able to establish broad agreement and expert 
validation on the key understandings and actions 
critical to advancing the early childhood agenda. 
The Declaration will be endorsed by members of the 
public, practitioners, researchers and policy makers to 
advocate for our shared commitment to the early years.

What happens in the early years of a child’s 
life is fundamental in shaping their learning, 
development, health and wellbeing, and future 
participation in society.

Early childhood learning and development is  
influenced by the quality of the care and the 
relationships a child experiences. 

The most significant relationships in a child’s life are 
with their family and other primary caregivers. 

A child’s developing brain is built and strengthened 
through positive interactions with their family and 
other primary caregivers.

Collaborate with families, communities and across diverse 
sectors to bring together the knowledge and expertise to 
advance early childhood learning and development.
Develop and implement culturally secure and locally 
relevant policies and practices that address the multiple 
domains of child development, to promote children’s 
development and health and to encourage lifelong 
learning. 
Empower and support families, caregivers and 
communities to enable children to thrive in all the places 
they spend time and live. 
Co-develop policies and practices with families and 
communities that promote primary caregivers’ skills, 
confidence and wellbeing, to improve early childhood 
outcomes.

KEY UNDERSTANDINGS
We pledge our long-term commitment and determination to improving children’s outcomes in the  
early years (conception – age 8) and jointly advancing the agenda for early childhood development, 
policy and practice, particularly for those children and families experiencing adversity.

ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN
We pledge our long-term commitment to take the following actions to improve children’s outcomes  
in the early years (conception – age 8) and jointly advance the agenda for early childhood development, 
policy and practice, particularly for those children and families experiencing adversity.

colab.telethonkids.org.au

Without protective relationships, severe or prolonged 
stress can increase a child’s risk of experiencing 
lifelong health, learning and behaviour problems.

Positive early life relationships, experiences and 
caring environments can help to protect children’s 
development from the effects of severe or  
prolonged stress.

Evidence-informed policies and practices aimed at 
enhancing early childhood experiences can help to 
protect children from the effects of adversity and also 
promote the learning and development of all children.  

The benefits from effective and locally relevant early 
childhood policies and practices can outweigh their 
costs, and deliver substantial benefits and long-term 
savings for government and the community. 

Work together with families and communities using 
policies, practices and services, that actively support 
and protect all children, especially those experiencing 
severe or prolonged stress.
Develop and implement early childhood policies and 
practices that address the cultural, structural and other 
social factors impacting on children and families.
Provide high-quality, culturally secure and locally 
relevant education and care as early in life as possible, 
with the flexibility to be tailored to the level of need 
experienced by children and families.
Invest in rigorous early childhood research to better 
understand what works for whom and why in different 
contexts and settings. 
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Forrest Scholars Ryuta Ujihara, 
Kit Prendergast and Frederik Seersholm

Forrest Scholars Ryuta Ujihara, 
Kit Prendergast and Frederik Seersholm
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Enable world-class research and innovation in Australia by attracting  
the brightest minds to Western Australian universities.

The Forrest Research Foundation was established in 
2014 following the commitment of AU$65m, over 10 
years, by Andrew and Nicola Forrest. The Foundation 
will assist Western Australia in becoming a world-class 
centre of research and innovation through attracting 
the next generation of outstanding intellectuals to the 
State. Scholars will pursue either doctoral studies or 
a postdoctoral fellowship. During 2017, the initiative 

was expanded by Andrew and Nicola Forrest, with a 
further AU$65m pledged to increase the number of 
Scholarships and Fellowships to be awarded. During 
the year, the first Forrest Fellows were recruited 
with Dr Giovanni Polverino and Dr Julie Ji joining 
the Forrest Scholars as part of the Forrest Research 
Foundation community. 

15
scholars appointed

2
 fellows appointed

700+
applications recieved

VALE RYUTA UJIHARA

We were deeply saddened this year by the tragic passing 
of Ryuta Ujihara. Joining the Forrest Scholars in October 
2016, Ryuta was researching water filtration technologies at 
the University of Western Australia. His work was aiming to 
enhance our understanding of requirements for efficient sea 
and waste water desalination by monitoring the membrane 
condition through magnetic resonance imaging. 

Ryuta wanted to use his talents as an engineer to bring clean 
and fresh water to the millions of our fellow people who lack 
this most basic resource, and he wanted to do this in a way 
which would be fair, equitable and sustainable. 

Ryuta was a driven and humble scholar who will be warmly 
remembered for his wisdom and careful contemplation on the 
world around him. In the words of one of his fellow Forrest 
Scholars: “Ryuta was one of the most intelligent and creative 
people I have ever had the pleasure of meeting.” 
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FORREST HALL 

Forrest Hall will provide a state-of-the-art 
accommodation facility designed to promote a 
stimulating and creative living environment for the 
Forrest Scholars and Forrest Fellows. Designed by 
internationally renowned Kerry Hill Architects, Forrest 
Hall will be built overlooking the Swan River near the 
UWA Crawley Campus.

Forrest Hall has been designed with the purpose 
of attracting and inspiring top scholars during their 
academic pursuits while creating a space that 

enhances their on-campus learning experience. The 
development has been expanded with an additional 
floor and wing creating a total of 45 one and two 
bedroom apartments housing up to 62 residents. 
Facilities include an outdoor terrace with river views, 
a multi-purpose room for seminars and functions, 
and underground car parking facilities. Construction 
started in mid-2016 and is due to be completed and 
ready for residency by semester one 2018, with the 
new eastern wing being completed in mid-2018. 

Photo Credit Min Hardman
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Dr Giovanni Polverino [Italy] 
University of Western Australia  
Studying: Biological Sciences  
Appointed in 2017

Dr Polverino’s research will help us understand the role of phenotypic 
plasticity in the ecological success of invasive species over native ones, 
and will create a unique opportunity to inform management plans for the 
preservation of biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. 

“My research will investigate the evolutionary mechanisms behind the 
ecological success of invasive fish over native ones to predict different 
species’ responses to climate change.”

Dr Julie Ji [Australia] 
University of Western Australia 
Studying: Psychology  
Appointed in 2017

Dr Ji’s research will focus on how mental imagery representations of  
past and future experiences can be leveraged to alleviate depression 
and build resilience.

“I believe scientists have a unique and vital role to play in generating 
new solutions to complex and large-scale problems in society. What 
has particularly fascinated me, and what my research will focus on, is 
how depressive states can alter our capacity to access past emotional 
experiences and to simulate hypothetical ones in the future.”

FORREST FELLOWS
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Gladymar Perez Chacon [Venezuela] 
Curtin & Telethon Kid’s Institute  
Studying: Medical & Health Sciences  
Appointed in 2017

Gladymar’s research is in testing different deliveries of vaccines in children 
to potentially protect against common allergic diseases such as eczema and 
food allergies.

“I believe the outcomes from this study will not only be relevant for 
Australia as it searches for feasible interventions to counter its ‘tsunami’ of 
food allergies in young children, but will be of particular significance to my 
own country and other low and middle-income countries as they consider 
how to optimise their own vaccine strategies.”

Marisa Duong [Vietnam] 
University of Western Australia  
Studying: Muscular Dystrophy  
Appointed in 2015

Marisa is developing a technique looking into how the oxidation of thiol 
proteins contributes to accelerating disease progression.

“The push for initiatives and making useful products out of research has 
been fuelling my desire to reach out and push forward my research into 
developing the analytical proteomics techniques. It helps to grow my interest 
in translational research.”

Grace Goh [Singapore] 
University of Western Australia  
Studying: Physiology & Biology  
Appointed in 2015

Grace’s research will examine the role of ambient temperature, body 
temperature, and circadian rhythms to determine what impact lifestyle 
disruptions like shift work or jet lag can have on metabolic functions.

“Creativity thrives in an environment that is collaborative and supportive, and 
I have no doubt that the research environment here can support me in this.”

Tim Hammer [USA] 
University of Western Australia  
Studying: Biodiversity  
Appointed in 2015

Tim’s research has led him to become a world-leading expert in the 
amaranth family of plants. 

“The shifts happening in my line of research will lead to more research into 
how the amaranth group of plants speciated rapidly, giving insights into how 
the arid biota of Australia diversified. Knowing how plant life responds to 
changes in climate, soil chemistry and pollinators will be even more important 
to the future of human life, especially with the challenges that we are facing 
feeding our growing population and with our changing global climate.”

FORREST SCHOLARS
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Emily Hoffmann [Australia] 
University of Western Australia  
Studying: Biological Science  
Appointed in 2017

Emily’s research is focused on the conversation of a critically endangered 
amphibian, the white-bellied frog (Geocrinia alba), and will investigate the 
main factors contributing to the decline of these frogs by examining patterns 
of persistence and extinction as well as studying the specific habitat and 
hydrological requirements of the species.

“I am enormously grateful to receive a Forrest Scholarship and have the 
opportunity to be part of an interdisciplinary community of passionate 
budding researchers.”

Dulce Vargas Landin [Mexico] 
University of Western Australia  
Studying: Epigenetics  
Appointed in 2015

Dulce is using genomic and epigenomic technologies to evaluate the impact 
of environmental stimuli and L1 mobilisation to better understand brain 
function and dysfunction.

 “I hope to contribute to passing knowledge to new generations… and 
increase the consciousness about how complex organisms are. I want to 
generate new knowledge that can be used to cure diseases.”

Karissa Lear [USA] 
Murdoch University  
Studying: Biodiversity  
Appointed in 2016

Karissa is at the cutting edge of accelerometry technology in studying the 
behaviour of fish and sharks.

“I think that it’s important for scientists, including myself, to understand what 
kind of data are used to inform environmental policy decisions, and how 
best to tailor studies in order to provide useful data to policy makers… I am 
excited to continue to learn more about how policy decisions are made and 
focus on outreach to ensure that my science has the potential for a broader 
impact beyond its immediate field.”

Ana Motta [Argentina] 
University of Western Australia  
Studying: History & Archaeology  
Appointed in 2017

Ana’s research will inform us of how both contemporaneous and past 
societies engaged with their past and how they coped with changing 
environments through expressions of identity.

“I am very fortunate to carry out research in the Kimberley’s and learn about 
other forms of knowledge and culture than my own.”
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Trung Viet Nguyen [Vietnam] 
University of Western Australia  
Studying: Epigenetics  
Appointed in 2015

Trung is working with world-leading epigenetic researchers to develop new 
tools that turn human genes on and off.

“Despite decades of research in understanding how epigenetics regulates 
gene expression, one of the most fundamental problems remaining 
to be solved in the field is whether epigenetic marks are the cause or 
consequence of gene expression. Recent advanced genomic technologies 
have made it possible… to investigate this question like never before. I 
believe these technologies will hold promise in not only advancing our 
knowledge in understanding epigenetics, but also spur research in reversing 
the damaging epigenetic profile in diseases such as cancer.”

Kit Prendergast [Australia] 
Curtin University  
Studying: Biodiversity  
Appointed in 2016

Kit strongly believes that cutting edge science is the only way to address the 
serious environmental challenges facing the world today.

“In the south west of Western Australia, we are very lucky and privileged to 
reside in an internationally-recognised biodiversity hotspot, and it is both my 
personal and professional quest to educate people about the natural capital 
of this country and encourage people to learn to love, care and conserve our 
natural heritage… using science and my skills and talents to provide evidence-
based solutions to solving our shared environmental and social problems.”

Manou Rosenberg [Germany] 
University of Western Australia  
Studying: Engineering  
Appointed in 2017

Manou’s research will apply mathematical techniques to restructuring 
electricity supply system to enable greater use of renewable energy and 
greater certainty of energy supply.

“New infrastructure needs to be both cost efficient and reliable, while 
at the same time being able to deal with fluctuating energy supply by 
renewable energy sources. Thus, it is time to research localised energy 
systems of distributed energy resources, consumers and potential 
storages, known as microgrids.”

Frederik Seersholm [Denmark] 
Curtin University  
Studying: Biodiversity  
Appointed in 2016

Frederik is pushing the limits in DNA analysis of biodiversity from before 
human existence.

“The Forrest Scholarship has allowed me to focus on my research, which is 
my small contribution to the world. I hope that a better understanding of the 
past biodiversity changes across the globe can help us better understand 
and protect the biodiversity that we see today.”
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Ryuta Ujihara [Japan] 
University of Western Australia  
Studied: Water Filtration  
Appointed in 2016

Ryuta’s research aimed to drive new insights into water filtration technologies.

“Meeting with people independent, speculative, unique and visionary 
in their work fuels my learning. I feel happy when I am near these kinds 
of people, because it is the existence of these people that in itself is the 
encouragement to me.”

Bhedita Seewoo [Mauritius] 
University of Western Australia  
Studying: Biological Sciences  
Appointed in 2017

Bhedita’s project will explore how brain structure and function relate;  
a fundamental question underpinning our understanding and appropriate 
treatment of neurological disorders.

 “As an emerging neuroscientist, I want to make personalised neurological 
therapies a reality. My ultimate aim is to determine the feasibility and best 
practice of using rTMS therapeutically to induce long-term stable changes  
in brain circuitry to alleviate the burden of neurological diseases.”

Forrest Scholars travelled to 
Minderoo Station in the Pilbara region 
of Western Australia for a retreat.
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33
visiting artists

1,768 
student training 

opportunities 

88,000+ 
audience members and 

participants across  
168 performances

Photo Credit Emma Fishwick, West Australian Ballet, Coppélia  
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Western Australia is a vibrant community where the arts and culture  
form part of everyday life. 

Minderoo’s arts and culture portfolio is focused 
across four key areas: access, new talent, 
sustainability and vibrancy. Our approach is dynamic, 
comprising multi-year partnerships, contributions 
to endowment funds and program funding in 
recognition of the diverse nature of the sector. In 
the past year, partners included the Art Gallery 
of Western Australia, Black Swan State Theatre 
Company, Co3 Dance Company, Perth Symphony 
Orchestra, West Australian Opera, Open Fields 
Arts Innovation, The Blue Room Theatre, The Last 
Great Hunt and Playwriting Australia. Organisations 
including the Western Australian Museum, West 
Australian Ballet Company and Sculpture by the 

Sea were the beneficiaries of a 2011 gift of shares 
which continue to contribute dividends back into the 
operations and sustainability of the organisations. 
Andrew and Nicola Forrest also hold board positions 
with some of Western Australia’s major art companies 
including the Black Swan State Theatre Company and 
the Art Gallery of Western Australia.

ACCESS
In recognition of Western Australia’s vast geography 
and diverse audience needs, Minderoo focuses 
its efforts on partnerships that increase access in 
regional communities and foster new audiences 
especially in younger generations.

PERTH SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA

Perth Symphony Orchestra (PSO) has been 
transforming the way audiences listen to and 
experience music since 2011. Performing in iconic 
and sometimes surprising venues, PSO play all styles 
of music – from Mozart to Metallica, from Beethoven 
to Britney Spears. PSO produced 49 performances, 
including 15 in outer metro and regional Western 
Australia and reached over 46,000 Western 
Australians in the first half of 2017.

“Thanks to the generous support of Andrew and 
Nicola Forrest, Perth Symphony Orchestra has 
a chance to re-invest funds previously used for 
administration into growing the orchestra. We now 
have the chance to increase the level of activity to a 
critical point where we can be more self-sustaining. 
This contribution is helping us help ourselves.”  
Bourby Webster, Executive Director of PSO

Photo Credit Richard Jefferson PhotographyPhoto Credit Richard Jefferson Photography
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WEST AUSTRALIAN OPERA 

West Australian Opera’s (WAO) vision is to enrich the 
cultural landscape by presenting world class opera 
that is vibrant, new, exciting, surprising, relevant and 
accessible to the widest possible audience. WAO is 
committed to nurturing young artists and providing 
a variety of educational initiatives for students. The 
company celebrated its 50th anniversary in 2017. In 
this celebratory year Minderoo has supported WAO 
to expand its outreach and education capacity in 
Perth and regional Western Australia. 

This has allowed the company to take live opera 
to the regions in mesmerising Western Australian 
settings such as the Pinnacles, Greenough and Valley 
of the Giants. WAO produced 18 performances and 
reached an audience of 27,952 in the first half of 2017. 

“Under the star-studded sky in the desert landscape 
of the Pinnacles, surrounded by the weathered rocks 
I was engulfed by the Aboriginal mythology and 
the magic of the music”. Patron at free Opera in the 
Pinnacles event

ART BALL 2017

Following the sold-out success 
of the inaugural event, the Art 
Gallery of Western Australia’s 
ART BALL returned with support 
from Minderoo to engage new 
WA audiences in 2017. Over 600 
attendees were entertained by 
interactive installations including 
a virtual reality display, nude 
life drawing and live tattoo art 
amongst the State Art Collection. 
The evening concluded with a 
performance by Australian indie 
pop duo Client Liaison. 

The event was co-presented with 
VOGUE Australia and centred 
around the Gallery’s international 
exhibition The Rise of Sneaker 
Culture, showcasing the sneaker’s 
complex and fascinating history.

Photo Credit Sean Finney, West Australian Opera, Opera at the Pinnacles 2017  
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NEW TALENT

Western Australia is recognised for nurturing some 
of the world’s greatest artistic talent and innovative 
new works. To ensure the ongoing pipeline of new 
Western Australian talent, Minderoo has supported 
a visiting artist program with the Western Australian 

Academy of Performing Arts, The Last Great Hunt 
and The Blue Room Theatre. Minderoo has also 
supported Co3 dance company which employs the 
next generation of dance talent and produces ground 
breaking new works.

Co3

Co3 is Western Australia’s flagship contemporary 
dance company, making a unique contribution to the 
national cultural environment. Co3 reinvigorates the 
conversation about, and experience of, contemporary 
dance. In its first full program for 2016, Co3 engaged 
over 100 artists and attracted more than 16,000 
people to the various programs. 

This year, Minderoo Foundation joined Co3’s 
campaign ‘Invest in our Heart & Soul’ and made  

a four-year commitment to directly support Co3 
dancers and extend their performance opportunities 
in WA and internationally. This support has allowed 
Co3 to employ dancers for longer and they have held 
11 performances for 3,337 attendees. Co3 have also 
run 236 student and community workshops for over 
4,000 participants, with over 90 per cent reporting 
increased knowledge, skill and interest in the art form.

Photo Credit Stefan Gosatti
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“A project of particular significance this year was the collaboration between Playwriting Australia, WAAPA and 
Minderoo which resulted in commissions for four WA playwrights to write one act plays which were directed by 
our Directing students, performed by second year acting students, and supported by our Production students. 
This provided an exciting and unique opportunity for all involved.” Julie Warn, WAAPA Director

“… I was so impressed with the quality of the student actors, I offered one of the second year acting students 
the opportunity to travel to Toronto to perform alongside Canadian student actors at the Ryerson in the 
Parodos Festival in Toronto in June 2017.” Peggy Shannon, Chair of the Ryerson Performing Arts School

“Vivian [Munn] has really inspired and excited me for my future in theatre. I have fallen in love with the style 
and truly hope to be in further Noel Coward and comedy of error plays. He was also great in encouraging my 
decisions and choices for the character.” WAAPA acting student

“Students worked with two fantastically talented young Australian theatre directors and actor trainers Michael 
McCall and Lizzie Schebesta. Both artists are profoundly self- motivated individuals who create their own work 
and generate opportunities to influence change in the theatre world. They are terrific role models.” Glenda 
Linscott, Head of Acting, WAAPA

WESTERN AUSTRALIA ACADEMY OF PERFORMING ARTS

The Western Australian Academy of Performing Arts 
(WAAPA) at Edith Cowan University is recognised 
internationally for the quality of its graduates and 
its comprehensive range of performing arts training 
opportunities. Minderoo and WAAPA continued 
the third year of their partnership in 2017, enabling 
renowned international, national and local artists and 
trainers to work with WAAPA students. Over the last 
year, WAAPA has brought 33 visiting artists to Perth, 
creating 1,678 student training opportunities. This has 
resulted in 90 performances with 10,980 attendees. 
The ability to bring international training opportunities 

to WAAPA students allows WAAPA to stand apart 
from its competitors and maintain its reputation as 
the institution that produces ‘work ready graduates’. 
Minderoo’s partnership with WAAPA respects the 
broader arts ecosystem and contributes to a stronger 
arts and culture scene in Western Australia.

Visiting artists and trainers in the past 12 months have 
included Vivian Munn, Stuart Haluscz, Michael McCall, 
Peggy Shannon, Lizzie Schebasta and Andy Paris. This 
augments their core training by enhancing training 
methodologies and building links into industry.

Photo Credit Jon Green 
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THE BLUE ROOM THEATRE  
AND THE LAST GREAT HUNT

In 2017 Minderoo’s partnership with WAAPA was 
extended to enable Perth’s independent theatre 
artists to also benefit from a skill and knowledge 
exchange. Visiting artists Lizzie Schebasta, Andy 
Paris, Joanna Wier Ousten and Barnard O’Hanlon 
worked with 11 independent artists from The Blue 
Room Theatre and The Last Great Hunt. Visiting 
artists also participated in Critical Conversations, 
a free monthly event facilitated by The Blue Room 
Theatre to encourage discussion about work being 
made and presented in Perth.

“For WAAPA, The Blue Room Theatre and The Last 
Great Hunt, the partnership represents a unique 
opportunity to collaborate in providing new skills 
and knowledge for Perth’s theatre artists. This is 
invaluable because it builds the career sustainability 
of local artists and improves the range and quality of 
work for local audiences.” The Blue Room Theatre

Barnard O’Hanlon and Andy Paris worked with 
independent Perth artists from The Blue Room  
Theatre and The Last Great Hunt.

SUSTAINABILITY

The arts and cultural industries are typically dependent 
on government and philanthropic funding in order to 
survive. In recognition of this and the need for greater 

sustainability across the sector, Minderoo has supported 
the establishment of endowment funds and other 
initiatives to future proof arts and culture companies. 

BLACK SWAN STATE THEATRE COMPANY 
PRODUCTION FUND 

In April 2017 Black Swan State Theatre Company 
launched a production fund to future proof the 
longevity and vibrancy of the company. The fund 
was launched at an event with guests that included 
legendary Australian actor, Jack Thompson and 
celebrated the incoming Artistic Director, Clare 
Watson. Nicola and Andrew Forrest matched every 
donation made to the production fund, on the evening 
reinforcing the Minderoo Foundation’s ongoing 
commitment to the arts in Western Australia.

“It is a game changer for Black Swan and will 
ensure the company is in good stead for the next 
stage of its journey.” Mark Barnaba AM, Chair of the 
Board of Directors Black Swan State Theatre Company Artistic Director 

Clare Watson, Australian Actor Jack Thompson and 
Company Director Nicola Forrest at the launch of the 
Production Fund.
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SUNSET HERITAGE PRECINCT 

Sunset, the former hospital and old men’s hospice 
in Dalkeith, Western Australia, has been home to 
Minderoo for the last six years. Built in 1904 as the 
Claremont Old Men’s Home, it was later renamed 
Sunset Hospital in 1941. The site was closed in late 
1995 and has largely remained vacant with the 
majority of the 8-hectare site languishing in disrepair. 

Minderoo has occupied a portion of the Sunset 
Heritage Precinct since 2011, restoring a section of 
the heritage listed buildings. In addition to housing 
the Minderoo Foundation and its various initiatives, 
Minderoo has subleased space to charities including 
the SAS Resources Fund, Bravery Trust, Future 
Directions, Kidney Health Australia, Hope for Children 
Organization Australia and Open Fields Arts Innovation.

Minderoo has hosted a number of arts, culture and 
community events at the Precinct in partnership 
with the Jackman Furness Foundation for the 

Performing Arts, Western Australian Academy of 
Performing Arts and Sculpture by the Sea. Andrew 
and Nicola Forrest have hosted international 
visitors including director George Lucas, actor Jack 
Thompson and photographer Russell James at the 
site and established a small sculpture park within the 
occupied area from sculptures exhibited at the annual 
Sculpture by the Sea event. Minderoo has funded 
community consultation and a planning and concept 
proposal to help generate ideas and partnerships for 
the Precinct’s development.

Minderoo’s tenancy at Sunset demonstrates how the 
site can be rejuvinated for the long-term. We continue 
to engage with the State Government, relevant 
authorities and external stakeholders to support and 
advocate for the precinct’s activation.

Photo Credit Min Hardman

The vast site on the banks of the Swan River has 
potential to host restaurants, cafes, a function centre, 
art gallery, performance spaces and office space for 
community organisations.

VIBRANCY

Western Australia represents a unique arts and 
culture landscape that has grown from strength-to-
strength in recent years. Minderoo seeks partnership 
opportunities that contribute to the vibrancy of the 

State’s arts and culture sector and challenge artistic 
boundaries. Our commitment to this is evident in the 
Foundation’s drive to activate the Sunset Heritage 
Precinct, where our head office is located.
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Communities and their members contribute to a thriving world around them. 

Every individual should contribute positively to the 
world around them so that our physical and cultural 
environment is preserved, enhanced and enjoyed. 
We pursue partnerships that enable civil society 
organisations to sustainably meet the needs of their 
community and initiatives to give a hand up, not a 
hand out.

Over the last year, Minderoo has worked with over 55 
community and environment partners across Australia 
and internationally. These partnerships range from 
supporting local community organisations, providing 
educational scholarships, through to disaster 
recovery assistance.

Minderoo is also a keen supporter of Indigenous 
education and training and has provided scholarships 
for seven primary and secondary students in Australia. 
In addition, we have partnered with The Aspiration 
Initiative, an academic enrichment program that 
supports Indigenous students with the goal of entry 
to university. Through Gurama Yani U we are helping 
Indigenous Fitzroy Crossing men with on-the-job-

training and access to other resources. Internationally, 
Minderoo has funded children to attend Hope for 
Children’s School of St Yared in Ethiopia as well as 
providing university scholarships to students through 
Maiti Nepal.

In late 2016, Minderoo became increasingly 
concerned by the escalating situation in Aleppo, Syria 
and the evacuation of the city. We provided financial 
assistance to three organisations working to support 
Syrian civilians: the White Helmets; the International 
Committee of the Red Cross and Oxfam Australia.

Minderoo has also been able to support refugees 
who have recently arrived in Western Australia. 
Through a partnership with the Metropolitan Migrant 
Resource Centre, we have provided emergency 
housing to five families fleeing the crisis in Syria 
and Iraq. We have also supported the fundraising 
efforts of The Humanitarian Group Seeking Refuge 
campaign, which raised funds for legal advice for 
refugee families, as well as the Princess Margaret 
Hospital Refugee Health Clinic.

55+
active community 

partnerships

au$30m  
of shares given

au$3.3m
in dividends to partners
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FRIENDS OF KINGS PARK

Perth’s Kings Park is the world’s largest inner-city park and is a 
mix of grassed parkland, botanical gardens and natural bushland. 
It is visited by six million people a year and is rich in native 
plant species. The Friends of Kings Park are set up to support 
conservation, bushland management, horticulture and education 
as well as providing volunteer support to Kings Park and the 
Botanic Gardens. 

Minderoo’s support to Friends of Kings Park has included the gifting 
of a parcel of shares in 2011. The dividends from this share gift have 
enabled a number of research projects including Digby Growns’ 
work to breed new plant cultivars. One of these species is a red 
flowered form of Anigozanthos manglesii, more commonly known 
as the Kangaroo Paw. Digby is also propagating two colour forms 
of Hemigenia tichbonii and is determining if they can be cultivated 
under commercial nursery conditions.

Minderoo’s funding also contributed to six Kings Park Science 
Summer Program scholarships, which supports university 
graduates with a 12-week placement that provides a bridge 
between undergraduate and post-graduate study.

THE ASPIRATION INITIATIVE

The Aspiration Initiative (TAI) academic enrichment 
program is an innovative education program designed 
to enhance academic achievement for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander high school students, and 
pave the way to university. TAI provides intensive and 
continuous educational support through academic 
camps during school holidays and ongoing mentoring. 
It works to advance and strengthen academic skills, 
building resilience and raising aspirations. As well 
as academic excellence, the program focuses on 
strengthening identity and creating a group of 
students who will support each other through school 
and further education. 

Minderoo has supported a six year pilot which found 
substantial impacts for students who completed the 
program. The pilot worked with 104 students and had 
an 80 per cent retention rate. It found TAI students 
year 12 completion, ATAR attainment rates and 
enrolment in university was far higher than those of 
other Indigenous students and comparable to non-
Indigenous students across Australia. Additionally, 
90 per cent of TAI surveyed students reported that 
TAI helped them learn ways their culture and helped 
them improve their performance at school. A recent 
evaluation described TAI as being unique among 

education programs for Indigenous high school 
students with evidence of academic achievement 
outcomes as well as cultural and social impacts. 

“If it wasn’t for TAI, I wouldn’t have made it to Year 
12. I haven’t had the best experience at school… The 
camps have helped me to work a lot harder, I focus 
more and find it easier to concentrate. They give 
me the motivation and support to keep on trying. 
TAI also helps me to be more confident and less 
insecure. I have an opinion now, and the confidence 
to speak up.” TAI participant 

Sadichhya Adhikari is investigating whether 
locally or non-locally sourced Tuart seeds 
grow more effectively to ultimately help 
native species cope with climate change.

Data from Aurora program documentation; Productivity 
Commission, Overcoming Indigenous Disadvantage: 
Key Indicators 2016
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METROPOLITAN MIGRANT  
RESOURCE CENTRE

When Minderoo learnt that the Metropolitan Migrant 
Resource Centre was struggling to find short term 
accommodation for the large influx of refugee 
families arriving in Western Australia from Syria and 
Iraq, the Forrest Family were quick to offer up a 
home in Cottesloe. 

Emergency accommodation was provided to five 
families who had come to Australia as refugees 
under the 12,000 places announced by former 
Prime Minister Tony Abbott. These families arrived in 
Perth, having experienced trauma, persecution and 
dislocation in war-torn Syria and Iraq. The families 
found sanctuary and were able to start their new life 
in Australia; looking for a permanent home, enrolling 
their children in school, registering for English classes 
and beginning their journey to recovery. 

SEEKING REFUGE –  
THE HUMANITARIAN GROUP

The Humanitarian Group is a not for profit legal centre 
providing professional and accessible migration 
assistance, legal advice and education to vulnerable 
people including humanitarian visa holders, asylum 
seekers and refugees. 

Without legal assistance, it can be difficult for 
asylum seekers to understand Australia’s complex 
legal processes. This can mean those in need of 
protection are not recognised and may be wrongfully 
returned to the persecution from which they 
originally fled. 

In April 2017, Minderoo supported Seeking Refuge WA, 
a fundraiser by the Humanitarian Group. Through a 
donation matching campaign, Minderoo were able to 
help the Humanitarian Group raise AU$91,481, passing 
their target of AU$80,000. This has enabled them to 
help over 100 people who need legal assistance to 
navigate the process of applying for a protection visa.

“It is a privilege to share some of the peace, stability and resources of Australia with those who have been 
forcibly displaced by war and conflict. People who just like us want the best for their families, and want 
their children to grow up to be happy, healthy and productive global citizens. It is intrinsic in the Australian 
character to share in what we have and allow everyone a fair go” Grace Forrest

Photo Credit Danella Bevis, The West AustralianPhoto Credit Danella Bevis, The West Australian
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Partners

Ability Centre (Centre for  
Cerebral Palsy)

Abilympics WA

Aboriginal Employment Strategy

Aboriginal Literacy Foundation

Adventure Club

AFI Conservatory Thesis Project

Alannah & Madeline Foundation

Almustava Trust

Alzheimer’s Australia WA

Angelhands

Anglicare WA

Army Art

Art Gallery of Western Australia

Arthrogryposis Society of WA

Aurora Education Foundation  
– The Aspiration Initiative

Australia Council for the Arts

Australian Chamber Orchestra

Australian Doctors for Africa

Australian Foundation for the Peoples 
of Asia and the Pacific

Australian Himalayan Foundation

Australian Indigenous Education 
Foundation

Australian Indigenous Mentoring 
Experience

Australian Medical Procedures 
Research Foundation

Australian Mitochondrial Disease 
Foundation

Australian National Academy of Music

Australian Prospectors and Miners’ 
Hall of Fame

Australian Red Cross

Australian Sports Foundation

Autism West

Barking Gecko Theatre Company

Barnardos Australia

Batyr

Be Centre

Bentley Primary School

Beyond Empathy

Black Swan State Theatre Company

BrightSpark Foundation

Cambodian Children’s Fund

Can Assist

Cancer Council

Cancer Patients Association

Challis Parenting and Early Learning 
Centre

Channel 7 Telethon 2011, 2012, 2013, 
2014, 2015, 2016, 2017

Chris O’Brien Lifehouse

Christ Church Grammar School Old 
Boys’ Association

Christchurch Earthquake Relief

Christian Blind Mission Australia

Claremont Therapeutic Riding School

Co3

Community Development Foundation

Cottesloe Surf Life Saving Club

Country Women’s Association  
of Australia

Cure for Life Foundation

Curtin University Foundation

Cyrenian House

Daniel Morcombe Foundation

Dreamtime Project

Dry July

Duke of Edinburgh Awards

Epilepsy Association of Western 
Australia

Esther Foundation

Fairbridge Foundation

Family Training Institute

Flowerdale Primary School

Food Rescue

Foodbank SA

Foodbank WA

FoundationOne

Fred Hollows Foundation

Fremantle Volunteer Sea Rescue

Fresh Start Recovery Programme

Friends of Kings Park

Gascoyne Catchment Group

Geelong Grammar School

Global Citizen Commission

Goldfields Women’s Refuge

Governors of Hale School

Gurama Yani U

Hagar International

Hale School Foundation

Halls Creek Deadlies Littlies Workshop

Halls Creek District High School

Halls Creek Hospital

Halls Creek Meals Program

Hannah’s House

Harry Perkins Institute of Medical 
Research

Hear and Say

HeartKids

Hope for Children Organization 
Australia

Hope Foundation

Humpty Dumpty Foundation

Ian Thorpe’s Foundation for Youth

ICEA Foundation

Impact 100 WA

Indigenous Community Volunteers

Inspired Living

International Committee of the  
Red Cross

Jack Thompson Foundation

Jackman Furness Foundation  
for the Performing Arts

Jewish Care Victoria

Joan Sutherland & Richard Bonynge 
Foundation

Karalee Community Association

Katanning Get Up ‘N’ Go Day

Kennedy Baptist College

Kennedy Park Project Expansion

Kidney Health Australia

Kimberley Aboriginal Law and Culture 
Centre

Kimberley Foundation Australia

Kinglake Fire Brigade

Knox Grammar School

Komilda College

Lady Lawley Cottage

Leeuwin Ocean Adventure Foundation

Legacy WA

Leprosy Mission Australia

Lucy Humphrey, Horizon, Sculpture by the Sea, Cottesloe 2017. Photo Credit Jessica Wyld
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Leukaemia Foundation

Lifeline WA

Maiti Nepal

Make a Wish Foundation

Mannkal Economic Education 
Foundation

Marmalade Foundation - Lou’s Place

Mason Lodge Village

McGrath Foundation

Melville Water Polo Club

Methodist Ladies’ College

Midvale Primary School

Mirabel Foundation

Mission Australia

Mobile Diabetes

Motor Neurone Disease  
Association of WA

MS Society of Western Australia

Murdoch University Veterinary Trust

Murphy’s Creek

Muscular Dystrophy Association  
of WA

Music NT

National Student Leadership Forum

Nedlands RUFC Injured Players Fund

Ngala

North Cottesloe Primary School

Old Haleians Association

On My Feet

Open Fields Arts Innovation

Opportunity International

Orthopaedic Outreach

Oxfam Australia

Paraplegic Benefit Fund

Parkerville Children & Youth Care

Perth Symphony Orchestra

Princess Margaret Hospital 
Foundation

Prison Fellowship Australia

Prostate Cancer Foundation  
of Australia

Queensland Flood Relief

Radiant Life College

Redfern Jarjum College

Rockingham Police and Community 
Youth Centre

Rocky Bay Inc

Ronald McDonald House

Royal Children’s Hospital

Royal Flying Doctor Service WA

Royal Perth Hospital

RUOK?

Sacred Heart College

Salvation Army - Freedom 
Partnership to End Slavery

Salvation Army - WA Emergency 
Division

Save the Children

Save the Rhino

Sculpture by the Sea

Senses Foundation

Serpentine Jarrahdale Grammar 
School

Servite College

Sevasadan Orphanage  
& Training Institute

Shire of Harvey

SIDS and Kids

Sir David Martin Foundation

Sirens of Silence

Sister Kate’s Children 1934 to 1953 
Aboriginal Corporation

Society of St Vincent De Paul WA Inc

SolarisCare

Songs of Mission

Special Air Service Resources Trust

St Hilda’s Anglican School for Girls

St Mary’s College Broome

St Patrick’s Community Centre

Starlight Foundation

Stillbirth Foundation Australia

Success Primary School

Surf Life Saving Foundation

Synergos

Syrian Civil Defence (The White 
Helmets)

Tabitha Foundation

Taronga Conservation Society 
Australia

Teach for Australia & Education 
Changemakers

Teen Challenge Foundation

Telethon Speech and Hearing Centre

The Fathering Project

The Freedom Fund

The Humanitarian Group

The Murdoch University Foundation

The Orangutan Project

Thirst4Water

Together for Humanity

Trinity Theological College

True Blue Dreaming

University of New England

University of Western Australia

Victorian Bushfire Relief

Visayan Forum Foundation

WA Bushfire Response

WA Country Health Service

WA Disabled Sports Association

WA Special Needs Children’s 
Christmas Party

West Australian Ballet Company

West Australian Opera

West Australian Symphony Orchestra

Western Australian Academy  
for Performing Arts

Western Australian Museum 
Foundation

Western Australian Youth  
Jazz Orchestra

Wheatbelt Men’s Health

Women & Infants Research 
Foundation

World Vision Australia

World’s Greatest Shave

Youth Alive WA

Youth Alliance

Youth Ballet WA

Youth Focus

Youth Futures WA

YouthCARE WA
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORT

Note 2017 $ 2016 $

REVENUE

Donations 200,363,056 22,181,282

Dividends 5,782,978 1,769,048

Grant Funding 61,645 420,780

Other Income 352,095 122,565

Total Revenue 206,559,774 24,493,675

EXPENDITURE

Depreciation 343,715 558,263

Loss on Disposal of Available for Sale Investments 335,184 1,382,467

Projects & Partnerships 3 16,719,050 19,356,519

Other Costs 3 1,564,364 1,709,894

Total Expenditure 18,962,313 23,007,143

Total Profit for the Year 187,597,461 1,486,532

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Change in Fair Value of Available for Sale Investments 19,465,572 17,762,106

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 207,063,033 19,248,638

Consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 
for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2017

Consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 
30 June 2017

Notes to the financial 
statements are included 
on pages 64 to 67.

Note 2017 $ 2016 $

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash & Cash Equivalents 4 203,891,312 20,684,233

Trade & Other Receivables 2,316,500 1,973,440

Total Current Assets 206,207,812 22,657,673

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Property, Plant & Equipment 6 1,816,744 2,066,782

Other Financial Assets 71,453,632 46,649,878

Total Non Current Assets 73,270,376 48,716,660

Total Assets 279,478,188 71,374,333

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Employee Benefits 132,451 136,535

Trade & Other Payables 1,659,068 653,731

Total Current Liabilities 1,791,519 790,266

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Employee Benefits 119,704 80,135

Total Non Current Liabilities 119,704 80,135

Total Liabilities 1,911,223 870,401

NET ASSETS 277,566,965 70,503,932

ACCUMULATED FUNDS

Contributions 51,255,294 51,255,294

Revaluation Reserve 37,227,678 17,762,106

Accumulated Surplus 189,083,993 1,486,532

TOTAL EQUITY 277,566,965 70,503,932
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Notes to the financial 
statements are included 
on pages 64 to 67.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORT

Consolidated statement 
of changes in equity for 
the financial year ended 
30 June 2017

Consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the 
financial year ended  
30 June 2017

Note Contributions 
$

Accumulated 
Surplus $

Revaluation 
Reserve $

Total $

CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED  
AT 1 JULY 2015

7 51,255,294 – – 51,255,294

Profit for the Year – 1,486,532 – 1,486,532

Other Comprehensive Income – – 17,762,106 17,762,106

Total Comprehensive Income  
for the Year – 1,486,532 17,762,106 19,248,638

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2016 51,255,294 1,486,532 17,762,106 70,503,932

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2016 51,255,294 1 ,486,532 17,762,106 70,503,932

Profit for the Year – 187,597,461 – 187,597,461

Other Comprehensive Income – – 19,465,572 19,465,572

Total Comprehensive Income  
for the Year – 187,597,461 19,465,572 207,063,033

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017 51,255,294 189,083,993 37,227,678 277,566,965

Note 2017 $ 2016 $

CASH FLOWS FROM / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from Donations, Contributions & Other Income 200,550,304 25,926,675

Receipts from Dividends 5,782,978 1,089,781

Interest Income Received 226,492 24,015

Payments to Suppliers, Employees & Others (17,585,652) (21,360,597)

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 4 188,974,122 5,679,874

CASH FLOWS FROM / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net Payments from (Purchase) / Sale of Shares (5,673,366) 15,187,740

Payments for Property, Plant & Equipment (93,677) (183,381)

Cash Flows from / (used in) Investing Activities (5,767,043) 15,004,359

NET INCREASE IN CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS 183,207,079 20,684,233

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning  
of the Financial Year

20,684,233 –

CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR 4 203,891,312 20,684,233
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

This report is a consolidated report of the activities of The 
Minderoo Foundation Trust (the “Trust”), including The 
Minderoo Foundation Trust ABN 24 819 440 618 and The 
Minderoo Foundation Trust as Operator of a PBI ABN 47 
204 978 079 (together, the “Group”) which are both DGR 
endorsed entities primarily involved in benevolent activities. 
The Trustee is Minderoo Foundation Pty Ltd.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Basis of Preparation
This financial report is a special purpose financial report 
prepared for use by the Directors of the Trustee and to 
fulfil the requirement of the Trust Deed and the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012.

The requirements of Accounting Standards and other 
financial reporting requirements do not have mandatory 
applicability to the Trust because it is not a “reporting 
entity”. The Directors’ have, however, prepared the 
financial report in accordance with the following Australian 
Accounting Standards:
 AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements
 AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows
   AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors
 AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures

 The financial report has been prepared on an accrual basis 
and on the basis of historical cost and using the going 
concern assumption. Cost is based on the fair values of the 
consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are 
presented in Australian dollars. 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
financial statements of the Group. Subsidiaries are all 
of those entities over which the Trust has power over 
the entity, exposure to rights to variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and the ability to use its power 
over the entity to affect its returns.

New accounting standards and interpretations
The Trust has adopted all new accounting standards 
and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) that are relevant to its operations 
and effective for annual reporting periods beginning 1 July 
2016. The adoption of these new and revised standards 
and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial 
position or performance of the Trust and Group.

Accounting standards and interpretations issued  
but not yet effective
Certain Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations have recently been issued or amended but 
are not yet effective and have not been adopted by the 
Trust for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2017. 
The Directors have not early adopted any of these new or 
amended standards or interpretations. The Directors have 
not yet fully assessed the impact of these new or amended 
standards and interpretations, to the extent relevant to the 
Trust and Group.

Key accounting judgements and estimates
Other than that detailed in Note k, no key accounting 
judgements, assumptions, and estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date and concerning the future were identified.

b) Income Recognition
Donations and sponsorships are recognised as revenue  
when received. 
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective 
interest rate method, which for floating rate financial 
assets is the rate inherent in the instrument. Dividend 
revenue is recognised when the right to receive a 
dividend has been established. 
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST).

c) Income Tax 
 No provision for income tax has been raised as the Trust 
and Group is exempt from income tax under Div 50 of the 
Income tax Assessment Act 1997.

d) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and 
deposits held at-call with banks.

e) Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is or 
contains a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether 
the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the 
use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset. Operating lease payments 
are recognised as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

f) Trade and Other Receivables
Trade receivables, which are within the normal credit terms, 
are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less 
an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An allowance 
for doubtful debts is made when there is objective 
evidence that the Trust will not be able to collect the debts. 
Bad debts are written off when identified. 
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g) Financial Assets
 Financial assets are classified into the following specified 
categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or 
loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available for 
sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. 
The classification depends on the nature and purpose 
of the financial assets and is determined at the time of 
initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of 
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on 
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are 
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for 
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if: 
–  such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a 

measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise; or

–  the financial asset forms part of a group of financial 
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed 
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in 
accordance with the Trust’s documented risk management 
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping 
is provided internally on that basis; or

–  it forms part of a contract containing one or more 
embedded derivatives, and AASB 139 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ permits the 
entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any 
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or 
loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial assets and is included in the ‘other gains and 
losses’ line item. Fair value is determined in the manner 
described above. Investments in controlled entities are 
recorded at cost less impairments (if any).

Available for sale financial assets
Listed shares and listed redeemable notes held by the 
Trust that are traded in an active market are classified 
as AFS and are stated at fair value. The Trust also has 
investments in unlisted shares that are not traded in an 
active market but that are also classified as AFS financial 
assets and stated at fair value (because the directors 
consider that fair value can be reliably measured). Fair 
value is determined in the manner described above. 
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve, with 
the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated 

using the effective interest method, and foreign exchange 
gains and losses on monetary assets, which are recognised 
in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or 
is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation 
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

h) Property, Plant and Equipment
Property Plant and Equipment is stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-
line and diminishing value basis over the estimated useful 
life of the asset as outlined below: 
 Buildings - over 30 to 40 years
 Leasehold Assets - over the term of the lease
 Motor Vehicles - over 3-15 years
 Office Equipment - over 5-10 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation 
methods are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each 
financial year end.

i) Acquisition Accounting
On 1 July 2015, the Trust acquired certain assets and 
liabilities for nil consideration. The transaction met the 
criteria of an acquisition of a business under AASB 3 
Business Combinations and accordingly all assets and 
liabilities acquired were valued at fair value at the date of 
acquisition. Refer to note 7 for further details.

j) Wages, Salaries and Annual Leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries expected to be settled 
within 12 months of reporting date are recognised in 
other payables in respect of employees’ services up to 
the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

k) Long Service and Annual Leave
The Trust does not expect its long service leave and 
annual leave benefits provision to be settled wholly within 
12 months of each reporting date. The Trust recognises a 
liability for long service and annual leave measured at the 
present value of expected future payments to be made 
in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the reporting date on government bonds 
with terms to maturity and currencies that match as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. PROJECTS AND PARTNERSHIPS
2017 $ 2016 $

Arts, Culture & Community 1,453,763 1,215,238
Eliminate Cancer Initiative 164,441 —
Forrest Research Foundation 6,500,000 6,500,000
GenerationOne 1,356,611 924,673
Thrive by Five 1,336,170 1,397,236
Walk Free 5,908,065 9,319,371
TOTAL 16,719,050 19,356,519

Employee Benefits Expenses
Included in Projects & Partnerships

Wages & Salaries 2,402,180 1,400,067
Other Employee Expenses 218,426 116,360

Included in Other Costs
Wages & Salaries 635,890 1,335,853
Other Employee Expenses 57,822 106,494

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES 3,314,318 2,958,774

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at Bank & in Hand 203,891,312 20,684,233
TOTAL 203,891,312 20,684,233

Cash Flow Reconciliation
Reconciliation of Profit to the Net Cash Flows from Operations:
NET PROFIT 187,597,461 1,486,532

Non-Cash Items:
Loss on Disposal of Available for Sale Assets 335,184 1,382,467
Depreciation 343,715 558,263
Provision 35,485 216,670

Changes in Assets & Liabilities:
(Increase) / Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables (343,060) 2,546,796
Increase / (Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables 1,005,337 (510,854)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 188,974,122 5,679,874

5. COMMITMENTS

The Minderoo Foundation has a number of commitments to help expand and achieve the various philanthropic objectives 
including the following key items:
–  The University of Western Australia: $39,000,000 over the next 6 years; and
–  Other commitments: $1,473,000 over the next year.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

6. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Gross Carrying Amount
Land & 

Buildings
Leasehold 

Assets
Motor 

Vehicles
Office 

Equipment Total

Assets Vested at 1 July 2015 675,000 1,789,470 18,699 94,009 2,577,178

Additions – – – 50,116 50,116

Disposals – – – (2,249) (2,249)

Balances at 30 June 2016 675,000 1,789,470 18,699 141,876 2,625,045

Accumulated Depreciation

Depreciation Expense 25,747 504,521 2,337 25,658 558,263

Balances at 30 June 2016 25,747 504,521 2,337 25,658 558,263

NET BOOK VALUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2016 649,253 1,284,949 16,362 116,218 2,066,782

Gross Carrying Amount

Balances at 1 July 2016 675,000 1,789,470 18,699 141,876 2,625,045

Additions – 83,738 – 9,939 93,677

Balances at 30 June 2017 675,000 1,873,208 18,699 151,815 2,718,722

Accumulated Depreciation

Balances at 1 July 2016 25,747 504,521 2,337 25,658 558,263

Depreciation Expense 11,752 307,267 2,045 22,651 343,715

Balances at 30 June 2017 37,499 811,788 4,382 48,309 901,978

NET BOOK VALUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2017 637,501 1,061,420 14,317 103,506 1,816,744

7. TRUST SETTLEMENT
During 2014/15 the Minderoo Foundation Pty Ltd 
successfully completed an internal restructure and review of 
its charitable status. As a result of this review, on 1 July 2015 
the Australian Children’s Trust for Benevolent Purposes was 
wound up and all assets, liabilities and commitments were 
transferred to The Minderoo Foundation Trust. 

The Minderoo Foundation Trust also assumed all 
commitments and liabilities associated with the Walk Free 
project from 1 July 2015, as per the MOU with Hope for 
Children Organization Australia Ltd.

8. PARENT ENTITY
Information relating to The Minderoo Foundation Trust,  
the Parent Entity is detailed below:

2017 $ 2016 $
Assets
Current Assets 205,780,663 18,633,769

Non-Current Assets 73,270,376 48,716,660

Liabilities
Current Liabilities 1,450,407 627,957

Non-Current Liabilities – –
Income
Total Profit / (Loss) for the Year 191,412,588 (2,408,829)
Total Comprehensive Income 210,878,160 15,535,277

9. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are no contingent liabilities or contingent assets.

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On 4th October 2017, the Group received a donation 
of $150,000,000 from its founders Andrew and Nicola 
Forrest. On the 18th of October 2017, Minderoo received 
a promissory note from Andrew and Nicola Forrest for 
a donation of $50,000,000 to be made before 15th 
May 2018. Therefore $400,000,000 will be donated to 
Minderoo within one calendar year of the announcement 
on 22nd May 2017. There have been no other material 
events subsequent to balance date.
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TRUSTEE’S DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of the Trustee, The Minderoo Foundation Pty Ltd, I state that 
in the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the Trust is not a reporting entity as defined in the Australian Accounting Standards;

(b)  the financial statements and notes of the Trust and Consolidated Group are in accordance with the Trust Deed
and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012, including:

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Trust and Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of their
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 2 to the financial
statements and complying with the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Regulation 2013;

(c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Trust will be able to pay its debts as and when they become
due and payable.

On behalf of the Board

Director:

Nicola Forrest
Perth  
18 October 2017
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Independent auditor’s report to the trustee of The Minderoo Foundation Trust

Opinion 
We have audited the financial report, being a special purpose financial report, of The Minderoo Foundation Trust (“the 
registered entity”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2017, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the trustee’s declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group (included in pages 62 to 67) is in accordance with the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012, including:

 a.  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2017 and of its consolidated 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

 b.  complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 2a, and the Australian Charities and  
Not-for-Profits Commission Regulation 2013.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matter - Basis of accounting
We draw attention to Note 2a to the financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report has been 
prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the trustee’s financial reporting responsibilities under the Australian Charities and Not-for-
Profits Commission Act 2012. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified 
in respect of this matter.

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon
The trustee is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, 
but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the trustee for the financial report
The trustee of the registered entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and have 
determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 2a to the financial statements is appropriate to meet the requirements 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 and is appropriate to meet the needs of the members. The 
trustee’s responsibility also includes such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the trustee is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustee 
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the trustee.

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustee’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the trustee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Ernst & Young

J K Newton
Partner
18 October 2017
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Trustee of The Minderoo Foundation Trust
In relation to our audit of the financial report of The Minderoo Foundation Trust for the financial year ended 30 June 2017, and 
in accordance with the requirements of Subdivision 60-C of the Australian Charities and Not-for profits Commission Act 2012, 
to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of any 
applicable code of professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

J K Newton 
Partner 
18 October 2017
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With Thanks

We would like to thank the many individuals who 
have supported Minderoo including our board 
members and those who have made donations 
in support of our work. We are also grateful to 
our partners who have helped us achieve such 
ambitious outcomes.

We would also like to acknowledge the following 
volunteers and interns who have given up their time 
to support Minderoo: 

Xenia Bagusche 
Natalie Davis 
Henry Fagan 
Kate Gray 
Zunaira Khan
Aleesha Kumar 
Ante Malenica

Zoe Mansell
Parris McLaughlin
Renè van Rooyen
Dhruvi Shethia 
Steven Hoeschele

Minderoo is extremely grateful to the many 
organisations who have provided pro-bono or 
significantly reduced professional services in 
support of our work. These include:
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2013

Andrew and Nicola Forrest became  
the first Australian signatories to the 
Giving Pledge

Forrest Research Foundation launched 
with $65m donation

Published first edition of the Global 
Slavery Index

The Freedom Partnership to End 
Modern Slavery established by the 
Salvation Army Australia through $1m 
seed funding

48 partners supported

2001 - 2007

Andrew and Nicola Forrest launched the 
Minderoo Foundation in 2001

Initially known as the Australian Children’s Trust, 
it provided small grants and donations to mostly 
Western Australian organisations

37 partners supported

2009

Contributed to the development 
of the Forrest Library at Hale 
School, serving 1,500 students 
annually

Supported Marysville town to 
rebuild their community centre 
following the devastating Black 
Saturday bushfires in Victoria

34 partners supported

2008

The Australian Employment Covenant launched

Established the Fitzroy Valley Men’s Shed, 
employing 5-25 men annually and supporting 
the broader Fitzroy Crossing community

32 partners supported

2010

GenerationOne launched

$1m contribution to the SAS 
Resources Endowment Fund 
enabled 20 SAS soldiers and their 
families to be assisted annually

42 partners supported

2011

The Forrest family began 
developing the anti-slavery 
initiative Walk Free

62,000 jobs committed to 
the Australian Employment 
Covenant since 2009

$30m in shares gifted  
to 21 organisations

Joined Channel 7 Telethon  
as an annual $1m partner

70 partners supported

2012

Walk Free Foundation launched

Challis Parenting and Early Learning Centre 
partnership commenced

Contributed $1m to the development of 
the new 47 room Ronald McDonald House 
facility in Perth

Specialist child care facility built at Cyrenian 
House for recovering drug addicts 

62 partners supported



2013

Andrew and Nicola Forrest became  
the first Australian signatories to the 
Giving Pledge

Forrest Research Foundation launched 
with $65m donation

Published first edition of the Global 
Slavery Index

The Freedom Partnership to End 
Modern Slavery established by the 
Salvation Army Australia through $1m 
seed funding

48 partners supported

2017

Andrew & Nicola Forrest made the largest  
donation by living Australians of $400m

Eliminate Cancer Initiative commenced

The inaugural Global Estimates on Modern Slavery 
with the International Labour Organization and 
the Bali Process Government and Business Forum 
were launched

13,522 people liberated from slavery and 338,498 
lives impacted through the Freedom Fund

Indonesian Freedom Network launched 

15 PhD scholars and 2 fellowships awarded 
through the Forrest Research Foundation 

43 partners supported

2012

Walk Free Foundation launched

Challis Parenting and Early Learning Centre 
partnership commenced

Contributed $1m to the development of 
the new 47 room Ronald McDonald House 
facility in Perth

Specialist child care facility built at Cyrenian 
House for recovering drug addicts 

62 partners supported

2014

World’s first Joint Declaration between all major 
faiths signed in Vatican City to fight slavery

27 welfare and government service reform 
recommendations made in the Creating  
Parity Review

VTEC $45m trial commenced

Received specific listing in the Australian Tax Act

51 partners supported 2016

CoLab launched in partnership with Telethon Kids Institute

Forrest Hall construction started

5,000 jobs filled by Indigenous Australians through 
the GenerationOne VTEC model 

Cashless debit card trial implemented in two sites  
following Creating Parity Review recommendations

Third edition of the Global Slavery Index released

47 partners supported

2015

Australian Freedom Network & Indian 
Freedom Network launched 

Walk Free Movement reached 8 
million members, joined with 47 
partner organisations and achieved  
32 campaign wins in 16 countries

Entered into a $1m, 4-year partnership 
with the Western Australian Academy  
of Performing Arts

Australian Government committed 
to indigenous procurement and 
employment targets as proposed in 
the Creating Parity Review

36 partners supported

to be continued...
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